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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Twenty-Second (“22nd AGM”) of the Company will 

AGENDA

As Ordinary Business

(Please refer to Note 1 of 
the Explanatory Notes)

(Please refer to Note 2 of 
the Explanatory Notes)

(Please refer to Note 2 of 
the Explanatory Notes)

As Special Business

AUTHORITY FOR THE DIRECTORS TO ALLOT AND ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO 
SECTIONS 75 and 76 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016 (“THE ACT”)

“THAT Act
”) 

(“MMLR

20% General 
Mandate

AND THAT

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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AND THAT

AND THAT the new shares to be issued shall, upon allotment and issuance, rank 

the Explanatory Notes)

PROPOSED RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED 
PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE (“PROPOSED 
SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE”)

“THAT MMLR”) 
Bursa Securities”), the Company and its 

subsidiaries (“MBGB Group”) be and are hereby authorised to enter into recurrent 

the public and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders of the Company 

the Act

THAT

AND THAT

the Explanatory Notes)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(cont’d)
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BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Secretary

Notes: 

omnibus account

Explanatory Notes:
 
1. Item 1 of the Agenda 

2. Item 2 of the Agenda

Previous Mandate

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(cont’d)
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Personal data privacy:

“

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(cont’d)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL 
YEAR ENDED 

FINANCIAL
PERIOD 
ENDED 

2022 2021 2019 2018 2017

Revenue RM

RM

RM

RM

RM

Total assets RM

RM

RM

2.52

Return on total assets (ROTA) 1.67

Times 0.51

Times 1.19

RM 0.19

Times

RM 0.07
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AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

Ong Lu Yuan (Chairman)
Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan   
 Mohamad

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan   
 Mohamad (Chairman)

Ong Lu Yuan

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

(Chairman)
Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan   
 Mohamad
Ong Lu Yuan

KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Eric Wee Ei-Mas (Project Director)
San Tuck Hoe (Financial Controller)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Tai Yit Chan (MAICSA 7009143) 
(SSM PC No. 202008001023)

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

V06-07-03A, Signature 2,
Lingkaran SV, Sunway Velocity,
55100 Kuala Lumpur,
Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur, 
Malaysia
Tel : +603-9201 2893
Fax : +603-9201 3982

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mohamed Akwal 
 Bin Sultan Mohamad
(Chairman and Independent 

Lee Chee Kiang
(Managing Director)

Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP.

Phang Kiew Lim

Tan Chin Hong

(Independent 

Ong Lu Yuan
(Independent 

REGISTERED OFFICE

12th Floor, Menara Symphony
No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim
Seksyen 13 
46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor
Tel : +603-7890 4800
Fax : +603-7890 4650

SHARE REGISTRAR

Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn Bhd
11th Floor, Menara Symphony
No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim
Seksyen 13 
46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor
Tel : +603-7890 4700
Fax : +603-7890 4670

AUDITORS

Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng PLT
Baker Tilly Tower
Level 10, Tower 1
Avenue 5, Bangsar South City
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : +603-2297 1000
Fax : +603-2282 9980

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad
Menara Bank Islam
No. 22, Jalan Perak
50450 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : +603 2088 8000
Fax : +603-2088 8028

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

- Main Market
(Consumer Products & Services)
Stock Name : MBRIGHT
Stock Code : 2097

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

He does not have any interest (direct or indirect) in the 

 

Kinabalu, he has set-up his own company which has 

interest with the Company or any family relationship 

MOHAMED AKWAL BIN 
SULTAN MOHAMAD LEE CHEE KIANG

Male  |  Aged 68  |  Malaysian

KIANG
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PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(cont’d)

DATO’ LEE WAI MUN, 
DIMP., JP.

shares in the Company held by his wholly owned Company, 

DATO’ 
D PHANG KIEW LIM

was previously appointed as a Corporate Finance Senior 

He does not have any interest (direct or indirect) in the 

W LIM
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MASLEENA BINTI ZAID

was with the Securities Commission of Malaysia and 

She was appointed as member of Audit and Risk 

She does not have any interest (direct or indirect) in the 

PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(cont’d)

TAN CHIN HONG

with the Group, he is primarily based in the Finance 

He does not have any conflict of interest with the 

TAN C ZAID
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ONG LU YUAN

also involved in both the ACCA fundamental and professional 

 

predominantly involved in the property development industry 

PROFILE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(cont’d)
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SAN TUCK HOE

PROFILE OF KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT

has worked in the real estate, property development 

Male Malaysian

San Tuck Hoe was appointed as a Financial Controller 

He was trained under the Malaysian Institute of 

He does not have any interest (direct or indirect) in 

Male Malaysian



MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS

2022

REVIEW OF OPERATING ACTIVITIES IN FINANCIAL YEAR 2022

 

Completed 20%
share issuance :
RM6.9 mil

Completed Rights
Issue with Warrants :
RM80.1mil

(2) Mandatory 

by Dato’ Lee 
Wai Mum, 
DIMP., JP.

(1) FYE2022 

RM4 mil50% - Paired-down bank borrowings

10% - Paid for development rights
21% - Seed capital & working capital

13-Aug-21

01-Jul-21 15-Jul-22

18-Feb-22

1

5

30-Aug-22
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 Corporate fund raising -

 

-

capital reserve and share capital

business

-

the Company from other shareholders 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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For 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Revenue

0.0

22.6

2.8

0.3 0.0

25.7

13.3

4.2 3.4

20.9

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

Investment
Holdings

Hospitality Investment
Proper es

Property
Development

Others Group Total

2022
(12
months)

2021
(18
months)

Revenue (RM’mil)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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PBT (RM’mil)

-5.1

14.8

-0.9 -2.3 0.0

6.5

-6.7

-31.6
-22.0

-47.0

0.0

-107.3-120.0

-100.0

-80.0

-60.0

-40.0

-20.0

0.0

20.0

40.0

Investment
Holdings

Hospitality Investment
Proper es

Property
Development

Others Group Total

2022
(12
months)

2021
(18
months)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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-4.2

17.2

-0.6 -0.4 0.0

12.0

-4.4

-26.8
-21.2

-44.3

0.0

-96.7

-120.0

-100.0

-80.0

-60.0

-40.0

-20.0

0.0

20.0

40.0

Investment
Holdings

Hospitality Investment
Proper es

Property
Development

Others Group Total

2022
(12
months)

2021
(18
months)

EBITDA (RM’mil)

Adjusted EBITDA (RM’mil)

-4.2

9.6

0.0

4.4

0.6

0.0

-5.4

-8.0

-6.0

-4.0

-2.0

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

Investment 
Holdings

Hospitality Investment
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Property
Development

Others Group Total
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(12 months)

2021
(18 months)

-4.4

-0.6
-1.2

-0.4 -0.4

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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Finance cost 

1.0

0.0 0.2

1.8

0.0

3.0

2.2

0.0 0.2

2.5

0.0

4.9

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

Investment
Holdings

Hospitality Investment
Proper es

Property
Development

Others Group Total

2022
(12
months)

2021
(18
months)

Finance Cost (RM'mil)

ASSET CHANGES 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Inventories 

Trade and Other Receivables

Contract Asset

Tax Assets

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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Liquidity 

Capital Requirement, Structure and Resources 

 

KNOWN TRENDS AND MOVING FORWARD 

DIVIDEND 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

Scope of Report

Sustainability Governance

Stakeholder Engagement

Stakeholders Engagement Methods Frequency Stakeholder Interests How We Deliver Value

Shareholders and 
Investors

o Annual General o Annually
return

o Financial 
performance

o Return on 
Investment (ROI)

Board of Directors o Corporate 
Governance

Compliance
o Sustainability

o Corporate 

o Sustainability 
Report

Employees

o Townhall sessions

the year
o Career 

development
o Townhall sessions
o Annual reviews
o Family days

Business Partners

o Landowners
o Financiers

discussions
o Transparency

policies and 

Customers o Roadshows

o Social media
o Courtesy calls
o Sales visits

the year

complaints 
measures 

channels
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Stakeholders Engagement Methods Frequency Stakeholder Interests How We Deliver Value

and NGOs
o Community 

o Social media

the year
o Community care 

and support
o Good corporate 

Suppliers
o Contractors
o Material 

suppliers

o Tender and 
the year

procurement channels
o Clear and fair 

procurement 
policies and 

Local Government 

Agencies

o Ministries

o Compliance with 
Government 

framework

o Annually

basis

o Transparency

compliance and 
disclosures

o Accountability

o Annual Report

o Compliance
o Sustainability report

Consultants
o Architects

Surveyors

development and 
basis

compliance

policies and 

Analysis of Materiality

The Process

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Stakeholders Important Issues Status

Shareholders In place

Owners/ 
Parent Company
 
 

Compliance

In place

Hotel management
 
 
 
 Leisure

Customers
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Timely delivery*

Safety
Comfort

Market research
Market research

In place

Sustainability Development Goals (SDG)

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Economic

 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Environmental

Least
Favoured

Most
Favoured

Reduce1

Re-use2

3

4

Disposal5

reduce

TGR UTILITIES CONSUMPTION FPE2021 (RM) TGR UTILITIES CONSUMPTION FYE2022 (RM)

TOTAL
2,368,524

TOTAL
2,136,789

Electricity Water Gas

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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52.06

2.84 0.02

48.12

2.48 0.02

45.22

2.74 0.02

27.61

1.78 0.01
0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

Electricity/RO Water/RO Gas/F&B

2018 2019 2021 2022

UTILITIES CONSUMPTION (RM)

A Go-Green campaign

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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A 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Social

Safe Working Environment

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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TGR Associates Events

 TGR Townhall Session

 

 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Events

 

 ‘Kita Kongsi’

 

 Family 1 & 2: 

 

 
 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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that were previously used as 

The Grand Renai Hotel were 

 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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 SK (C) ANGLO CHINESE recycling campaign

 

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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COMPOSITION AND ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

Director
Number of Percentage of 

Ong Lu Yuan
Chairman

Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan Mohamad 
Member 

Member 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES 

b. Reviewing the Audit Findings of the External Auditors and Assessing their Performance, Suitability and 
Independence 

Fees incurred
Audit Fee 
RM’000

Non-Audit 
Service Fees 

RM’000
The Company

The Group

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)
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SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES

b. Reviewing the Audit Findings of the External Auditors and Assessing their Performance, Suitability and 
Independence

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION 

To ensure that the audit focuses on relevant and appropriate risk areas, the Internal Auditors will consult the ARMC 

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)
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Director

Chairman 

Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan Mohamad

Ong Lu Yuan 

 iii) 

NOMINATING COMMITTEE STATEMENT
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NOMINATING COMMITTEE STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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 for 

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS 

Name

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS 

Director

Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan Mohamad 
Chairman 

 

Ong Lu Yuan 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS 

Director

Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan Mohamad 

Lee Chee Kiang 

Ong Lu Yuan

Phang Kiew Lim

Tan Chin Hong

Director Date

Sultan Mohamed 

Issuance of Financial Statements

4 hours

4 hours

4 hours

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS 

Director Date

4 hours

2 hours

4 hours

4 hours

4 hours

Sustainability

4 hours

4 hours

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS 

and

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS 

Code of Conduct and Ethics 

Whistle Blowing Policy and Procedures 

at 

 

PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk Management and Internal Control 

PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS 

 where shareholders or investors may access the 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(cont’d)
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year, and 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES AND ASSURANCE 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)
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BOARD ASSURANCE AND LIMITATION 

REVIEW OF STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(cont’d)
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1. UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS

 (a)  

Purpose

Proposed 

proceeds

Actual 

15.09.2022
Balance to 

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 -   

 -   

months

 -   

 (b)  

Purpose

10% 
private 

placement
RM’000

20% 
share 

issuance
RM’000

Proposed 

of proceeds 
RM’000

Actual 

as at 
15.09.2022 

RM’000

Balance 
to be 

RM’000
Repayment of bank 

-

-

- months

placement -

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE LISTING
REQUIREMENTS OF BURSA MALAYSIA SECURITIES BERHAD
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1. UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS

 (c)  

Purpose

Proposed 

of proceeds 
RM’000

Actual 

as at 
15.09.2022

RM’000

Balance to 

RM’000
-

 
to a director -

 
to a former director -

-

-

5. SANCTIONS AND/OR PENALTIES

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE LISTING
REQUIREMENTS OF BURSA MALAYSIA SECURITIES BERHAD

(cont’d)
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7. VARIATION IN RESULTS 

8. MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

9. PROFIT GUARANTEES

10. CONTRACTS RELATING TO LOANS

11. RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE LISTING
REQUIREMENTS OF BURSA MALAYSIA SECURITIES BERHAD
(cont’d)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors hereby submit their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in 
Note 13 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

CHANGE OF NAME

During the financial year, the Company has changed its name from Eastland Equity Bhd. to Meta Bright Group Berhad 
with effect from 18 July 2022.

RESULTS 

 Group  Company 
 RM  RM 

Profit/(Loss) for the financial year  4,074,512  (4,412,239)

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company  4,074,512  (4,412,239)

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial period.

RESERVES OR PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than those disclosed in 
the financial statements.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS 

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the directors took reasonable steps to 
ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for doubtful 
debts and had satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate allowance had been 
made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render it necessary to write off 
any bad debts or render the amount of allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company inadequate to any substantial extent.
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CURRENT ASSETS

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the directors took reasonable steps to 
ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business including their values 
as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company had been written down to an amount which they 
might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values attributed to 
the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

VALUATION METHODS

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render adherence to 
the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which 
secures the liabilities of any other person; and

(ii) any contingent liabilities in respect of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial 
year.

In the opinion of the directors, no contingent or other liability of the Group or of the Company has become enforceable, 
or is likely to become enforceable, within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or 
may affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading.

ITEMS OF MATERIAL AND UNUSUAL NATURE

In the opinion of the directors,

(i) the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year were not substantially affected 
by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and

(ii) no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the 
Group and of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

During the financial year, the Company:

(i) issued 64,856,314 new ordinary shares at a price of RM0.1059 each through private placement for a total 
consideration of RM6,868,283; and

(ii) issued renounceable rights issue of 1,144,241,731 new ordinary shares on the basis of 19 Rights Shares for every 7 
existing shares at an issue price of RM0.07 each, together with 782,901,982 free detachable warrants on the basis 
of 13 warrants for every 19 rights shares subscribed for.

The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares 
of the Company.

There were no issue of debentures during the financial year.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

No options were granted to any person to take up the unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

WARRANTS

On 3 January 2022, the Company executed a Deed Poll pertaining to the issuance of 782,901,982 free detachable 
warrants (“the Warrants”).

The Company issued 782,901,982 Warrants to the shareholders of the Company on the basis of 13 Warrants for every 
19 Rights Shares subscribed for. The Warrants are listed on the Main Market of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The 
main features of the Warrants are disclosed in Note 23(d).

As at the end of the financial year, 782,901,982 units of the Warrants remained unexercised.

DIRECTORS

The directors in office during the financial year and during the period from the end of the financial year to the date of the 
report are:

Lee Chee Kiang *
Masleena Binti Zaid     
Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan Mohamad 
Tan Chin Hong * 
Phang Kiew Lim *     
Ong Lu Yuan 
Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP.   (Appointed on 9 August 2021)
Eric Wee Ei-Mas      (Resigned on 9 August 2021)

* Directors of the Company and certain subsidiaries

Other than as stated above, the names of the directors of the subsidiaries of the Company in office during the financial 
year and during the period from the end of the financial year to the date of the report are:

Dato’ Tan Kok Hooi   (Deceased on 7 June 2022)
Tan Chin Hao
Eric Wee Ei-Mas

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings required to be kept by the Company under Section 59 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia, the interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in shares in the 
Company and its related corporations during the financial year were as follows:

Interests in the Company

 Number of ordinary shares 
 At 1.7.2021/ 

 date of  
 appointment  Bought  Sold  At 30.6.2022 

Direct interests:
Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP.  14,044,000  -  14,044,000  - 

Lee Chee Kiang  25,236,200  68,500,600  -  93,736,800 

Ong Lu Yuan  -  1,198,800  -  1,198,800 

Indirect interests:
Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP. #  -  243,942,563  -  243,942,563 

Tan Chin Hong *  18,333,928  -  -  18,333,928 

 Number of Warrants
 At 1.7.2021/ 

 date of  
 appointment  Bought  Exercised  At 30.6.2022 

Direct interests:
Ong Lu Yuan  -  620,442  -  620,442 

Lee Chee Kiang  -  46,868,831  -  46,868,831 

Indirect interests:
Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP. #  -  157,299,015  -  157,299,015 

# Shares held through a company in which the director has substantial financial interests.
* Shares held through corporations and siblings.

Other than as stated above, none of the other directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in 
ordinary shares or debentures of the Company and its related corporations during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive any 
benefit (other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable, by the 
directors as shown below) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or 
with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest 
other than any deemed benefit which may arise from transactions as disclosed in Note 28 to the financial statements.

The directors’ benefits of the Group and of the Company are as follows:

 Group  Company 
 RM  RM 

Directors of the Company
- Fees  216,000  216,000 

- Salaries and allowances  1,147,033  1,147,033 

- Other emoluments  137,499  137,499 

- Estimated money value of benefits-in-kind  8,800  8,800 

 1,509,332  1,509,332 

Directors of subsidiaries
- Salaries and allowances  163,615  - 

- Other emoluments  15,713  - 

 179,328  - 

Neither during, nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangements where the object is to 
enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or any 
other body corporate.

INDEMNITY TO DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

During the financial year, there was no indemnity given to or insurance effected for any directors and officers of the 
Company.

SUBSIDIARIES

The details of the Company’s subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Details of significant events during and subsequent to the end of the financial year are disclosed in Note 33 to the 
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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AUDITORS

The auditors, Messrs Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng PLT, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

The auditors’ remuneration of the Group and of the Company during the financial year are RM201,000 and RM102,000 
respectively.

The Company has agreed to indemnify the auditors of the Company as permitted under Section 289 of the Companies 
Act 2016 in Malaysia.

This report was approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

LEE CHEE KIANG
Director

TAN CHIN HONG
Director

Kuala Lumpur

Date: 13 October 2022

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Revenue 5  25,704,534  20,899,378  800,000  709,989 

Other operating income  705,799  1,535,657  -  19,133 

Bad debts written off  -  -  (8,459)  - 

Consumables used 16  (2,994,035)  (1,848,670)  -  - 

Cost of sales of completed properties 16  -  (307,064)  -  - 

Cost of sales of property development units 16  (64,083)  (2,911,219)  -  - 

Deposits written off  (10,120)  -  -  - 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11  (2,622,400)  (5,735,040)  (11,135)  (104,414)

Directors’ remuneration 28(c)  (1,679,860)  (2,360,554)  (1,500,532)  (2,072,640)

Fair value adjustment on payable measured at 
amortised cost  271,652  -  -  - 

Fair value loss on investment properties 12  -  (19,998,300)  -  - 

Finance costs, net of finance income 7  (2,803,366)  (4,724,384)  (860,830)  (2,165,895)

Gain on derecognition of an associate 14(b)  1,775  -  1,775  - 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment  -  53,968  -  53,968 

Gain on lease modification  -  763  -  - 

Impairment losses on:

- amounts owing by subsidiaries 18(c)  -  -  (91,551)  (737,613)

- investment in subsidiaries 13  -  -  (32,089,450)  (94,403,536)

- property, plant and equipment 11  -  (27,332,041)  -  - 

- trade receivables 18(a)  (325,298)  -  -  - 

Inventories written down 16  -  (43,877,604)  -  - 

Inventories written off 16  -  (7,114)  -  - 

Property, plant and equipment written off 11  -  (183)  -  (183)

Rent concession income  -  1,000  -  - 

Reversal of impairment losses on:

- financing receivables 17  18,654  -  -  - 

- trade receivables 18(a)  2,824  6,619  -  - 

- other receivables 18(b)  -  20,817  -  - 

- amount owing by a subsidiary 18(c)  -  -  32,079,766  - 

- property, plant and equipment 11  7,579,356  -  -  - 

Staff costs:

- hotel operations  (4,801,324)  (6,287,365)  -  - 

- others  (1,564,612)  (2,047,452)  (960,413)  (1,074,780)

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022
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 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Write-back of payables  -  -  9,282  - 

Other operating expenses  (10,949,926)  (12,412,908)  (1,780,692)  (1,320,178)

Profit/(Loss) before tax 8  6,469,570  (107,331,696)  (4,412,239)  (101,096,149)

Income tax (expense)/credit 9  (2,395,058)  6,913,742  -  - 

Profit/(Loss) for the financial year/period  4,074,512  (100,417,954)  (4,412,239)  (101,096,149)

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss

Arising from revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment  540,183  (1,013,608)  -  - 

Fair value (loss)/gain on equity instrument 
designated at fair value through other 
comprehensive income  (47,751)  137,093  (47,751)  137,093 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the 
financial year/period  492,432  (876,515)  (47,751)  137,093 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 
financial year/period  4,566,944  (101,294,469)  (4,459,990)  (100,959,056)

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company  4,074,512  (100,417,954)  (4,412,239)  (101,096,149)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
attributable to:

Owners of the Company  4,566,944  (101,294,469)  (4,459,990)  (100,959,056)

Earnings/(Loss) per share attributable to 
owners of the Company (sen)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 10  0.49  (30.88)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 10  0.44  (30.88)

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022

(cont’d)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Group  Company
 2022  2021  2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11  78,827,725  70,798,192  50,173  15,723 

Investment properties 12  62,593,700  62,593,700  -  - 

Investment in subsidiaries 13  -  - 103,801,626  95,891,075 

Other investments 15  1,628,935  1,674,911  1,628,935  1,674,911 

Financing receivables 17  15,240  4,162  -  - 

Total non-current assets  143,065,600  135,070,965 105,480,734  97,581,709 

Current assets
Inventories 16  62,361,655  27,643,067  -  - 

Tax assets  -  572,189  -  - 

Financing receivables 17  39,588  5,004  -  - 

Trade and other receivables 18  3,925,937  2,003,398  46,433,525  41,126 

Contract assets 19  2,335,034  -  -  - 

Deposits placed with licensed banks 20  5,173,296  4,310,714  -  - 

Cash and bank balances 21  27,065,159  2,113,808  4,064,924  400,717 

Total current assets  100,900,669  36,648,180  50,498,449  441,843 

TOTAL ASSETS  243,966,269  171,719,145 155,979,183  98,023,552 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2022
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 Group  Company
 2022  2021  2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 
  
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 22  181,667,731  133,877,051  181,667,731  133,877,051 

Other reserves 23  149,916,216  111,453,038  149,376,033  111,453,038 

Accumulated losses  (170,002,763)  (174,077,275)  (176,121,679)  (171,709,440)

TOTAL EQUITY  161,581,184  71,252,814 154,922,085  73,620,649 

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 24  20,082,083  46,535,540  -  - 

Deferred tax liabilities 25  5,900,034  4,048,734  -  - 

Trade payable 26  2,800,009  -  -  - 

Total non-current liabilities  28,782,126  50,584,274  -  - 

Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 24  2,432,201  9,966,942  -  - 

Provisions for liabilities 27  1,812,000  1,812,000  -  - 

Trade and other payables 26  24,234,403  35,098,734  1,057,098  24,402,903 

Contract liabilities 19  25,124,355  3,004,381  -  - 

Total current liabilities  53,602,959  49,882,057  1,057,098  24,402,903 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  82,385,085  100,466,331  1,057,098  24,402,903 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  243,966,269  171,719,145 155,979,183  98,023,552 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2022

(cont’d)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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  Attributable to Owners of the Company 

 Share 
 Capital 

 Capital 
 Reserve 

 Revaluation 
 Reserve 

 Warrant 
 Reserve 

 Fair Value 
 Reserve 

 of Financial 
 Assets at 

 FVOCI 
 Accumulated 

 Losses 
 Total 

 Equity 

Note  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Group

At 1 July 2021  133,877,051  110,238,037  -  -  1,215,001  (174,077,275)  71,252,814 

Total comprehensive 
income for the financial 
year

Profit for the financial year  -  -  -  -  -  4,074,512  4,074,512 

Other comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the 
financial year  -  -  540,183  -  (47,751)  -  492,432 

Total comprehensive 
income  -  -  540,183  -  (47,751)  4,074,512  4,566,944 

Transactions with owners

Issue of ordinary shares 
pursuant to:

- private placement 22  6,868,283  -  -  -  -  -  6,868,283 

- rights issue  42,126,175  -  -  37,970,746  -  -  80,096,921 

Transaction costs of share 
issue  (1,203,778)  -  -  -  -  -  (1,203,778)

Total transactions with 
owners  47,790,680  -  -  37,970,746  -  -  85,761,426 

At 30 June 2022  181,667,731  110,238,037  540,183  37,970,746  1,167,250  (170,002,763)  161,581,184 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022
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  Attributable to Owners of the Company 

 Share 
 Capital 

 Capital 
 Reserve 

 Revaluation 
 Reserve 

 Fair Value 
 Reserve 

 of Financial 
 Assets at 

 FVOCI 
 Accumulated 

 Losses 
 Total 

 Equity 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Group
At 1 January 2020  129,878,659  110,238,037  1,013,608  1,077,908  (73,659,321)  168,548,891 

Total comprehensive 
loss for the financial 
period

Loss for the financial 
period  -  -  -  -  (100,417,954)  (100,417,954)

Other comprehensive 
(loss)/income for the 
financial period  -  -  (1,013,608)  137,093  -  (876,515)

Total comprehensive 
loss  -  -  (1,013,608)  137,093  (100,417,954)  (101,294,469)

Transaction with 
owners

Issue of ordinary shares 
pursuant to private 
placement 22  3,998,392  -  -  -  -  3,998,392 

Total transaction with 
owners  3,998,392  -  -  -  -  3,998,392 

At 30 June 2021  133,877,051  110,238,037  -  1,215,001  (174,077,275)  71,252,814 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022

(cont’d)
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  Attributable to Owners of the Company 

 Share 
 Capital 

 Capital 
 Reserve 

 Warrant 
 Reserve 

 Fair Value 
 Reserve 

 of Financial 
 Assets at 

 FVOCI 
 Accumulated 

 Losses 
 Total 

 Equity 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Company
At 1 July 2021  133,877,051  110,238,037  -  1,215,001  (171,709,440)  73,620,649 

Total comprehensive 
loss for the financial 
year

Loss for the financial 
year  -  -  -  -  (4,412,239)  (4,412,239)

Other comprehensive 
loss for the financial 
year  -  -  -  (47,751)  -  (47,751)

Total comprehensive 
loss  -  -  -  (47,751)  (4,412,239)  (4,459,990)

Transactions with 
owners

Issue of ordinary shares 
pursuant to:

- private placement 22  6,868,283  -  -  -  -  6,868,283 

- rights issue  42,126,175  -  37,970,746  -  -  80,096,921 

Transactions costs of 
share issue  (1,203,778)  -  -  -  -  (1,203,778)

Total transactions with 
owners  47,790,680  -  37,970,746  -  -  85,761,426 

At 30 June 2022  181,667,731  110,238,037  37,970,746  1,167,250  (176,121,679) 154,922,085

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022
(cont’d)
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  Attributable to Owners of the Company 

 Share 
 Capital 

 Capital 
 Reserve 

 Fair Value 
 Reserve 

 of Financial 
 Assets at 

 FVOCI 
 Accumulated 

 Losses 
 Total 

 Equity 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Company
At 1 January 2020  129,878,659  110,238,037  1,077,908  (70,613,291)  170,581,313 

Total comprehensive loss for 
the financial period

Loss for the financial period  -  -  -  (101,096,149)  (101,096,149)

Other comprehensive income 
for the financial period  -  -  137,093  -  137,093 

Total comprehensive loss  -  -  137,093  (101,096,149)  (100,959,056)

Transaction with owners

Issue of ordinary shares 
pursuant to private 
placement 22  3,998,392  -  -  -  3,998,392 

Total transaction with owners  3,998,392  -  -  -  3,998,392 

At 30 June 2021  133,877,051  110,238,037  1,215,001  (171,709,440)  73,620,649 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022

(cont’d)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit/(Loss) before tax  6,469,570  (107,331,696)  (4,412,239)  (101,096,149)

Adjustments for:

Bad debts written off  -  -  8,459  - 

Deposits written off  10,120  -  -  - 

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 11  2,622,400  5,735,040  11,135  104,414 

Fair value adjustment on payable measured 
at amortised cost  (271,652)  -  -  - 

Fair value loss on investment properties 12  -  19,998,300  -  - 

Finance costs 7  2,955,543  4,935,357  969,450  2,165,895 

Finance income 7  (152,177)  (210,973)  (108,620)  - 

Gain on derecognition of an associate 14(b)  (1,775)  -  (1,775)  - 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment  -  (53,968)  -  (53,968)

Gain on lease modification  -  (763)  -  - 

Impairment losses on:

- amount owing by subsidiaries 18(c)  -  -  91,551  737,613 

- investments in subsidiaries 13  -  - 32,089,450  94,403,536 

- property, plant and equipment 11  -  27,332,041  -  - 

- trade receivables 18(a)  325,298  -  -  - 

Inventories written down 16  -  43,877,604  -  - 

Inventories written off 16  -  7,114  -  - 

Property, plant and equipment written off 11  -  183  -  183 

Rent concession income  -  (1,000)  -  - 

Reversal of impairment losses:

- amount owing by a subsidiary 18(c)  -  -  (32,079,766)  - 

- financing receivables 17  (18,654)  -  -  - 

- trade receivables 18(a)  (2,824)  (6,619)  -  - 

- other receivables 18(b)  -  (20,817)  -  - 

- property, plant and equipment 11  (7,579,356)  -  -  - 

Write-back of payables  -  -  (9,282)  - 

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital 
changes, balances carried forward  4,356,493  (5,740,197)  (3,441,637)  (3,738,476)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022
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 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital 
changes, balances brought forward  4,356,493  (5,740,197)  (3,441,637)  (3,738,476)

Changes in working capital:

Contract assets  (2,335,034)  -  -  - 

Contract liabilities  22,119,974  (975,054)  -  - 

Inventories  (34,718,588)  3,112,258  -  - 

Trade and other receivables  (2,282,141)  (970,616)  (5,938)  5,477 

Trade and other payables  4,508,128  5,025,494  (43,978)  57,206 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operations  (8,351,168)  451,885  (3,491,553)  (3,675,793)

Interest paid  (359,663)  (242,583)  -  (2,471)

Interest received  12,529  6,185  -  - 

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities  (8,698,302)  215,487  (3,491,553)  (3,678,264)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of a subsidiary 13  -  -  (1)  - 

Advances to subsidiaries  -  -  (54,406,705)  (737,613)

Change in pledged deposits  (212,264)  316,915  -  - 

Interest received  139,648  204,788  108,620  - 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 
and equipment  -  80,946  -  80,946 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (a)  (2,312,601)  (107,446)  (45,585)  (7,216)

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities  (2,385,217)  495,203  (54,343,671)  (663,883)

Cash flows from financing activities: (b)

(Repayment to)/Advances from directors  (12,300,798)  1,960,000  (8,540,000)  1,960,000 

(Repayment to)/Advances from subsidiaries  -  -  (14,752,545)  92,449 

Drawdown of term loans  1,692,745  20,329,451  -  - 

Interest paid  (2,595,880)  (4,692,774)  (969,450)  (2,163,424)

Proceeds from issuance of shares 22  85,761,426  3,998,392  85,761,426  3,998,392 

Repayments of term loans  (28,490,853)  (1,233,981)  -  - 

Repayments of lease liabilities  (275,406)  (158,977)  -  (94,497)

Net cash from financing activities  43,791,234  20,202,111  61,499,431  3,792,920 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022

(cont’d)
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 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  32,707,715  20,912,801  3,664,207  (549,227)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the financial year/period  (5,640,836)  (26,553,637)  400,717  949,944 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year/period  27,066,879  (5,640,836)  4,064,924  400,717 

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 21  26,815,569  1,865,740  4,064,924  400,717 

Cash held under Housing Development 
Account 21  249,590  248,068  -  - 

Deposits placed with licensed banks 20  5,173,296  4,310,714  -  - 

 32,238,455  6,424,522  4,064,924  400,717 

Bank overdrafts 24  (648,598)  (7,754,644)  -  - 

 31,589,857  (1,330,122)  4,064,924  400,717 

Less: Deposits pledged 20  (4,522,978)  (4,310,714)  -  - 

 27,066,879  (5,640,836)  4,064,924  400,717 

(a) Purchase of property, plant and equipment:

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  2,503,963  107,446  45,585  7,216 

Financed by way of lease arrangements  (191,362)  -  -  - 

Cash payments on purchase of property, plant 
and equipment  2,312,601  107,446  45,585  7,216 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022
(cont’d)
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(b) Reconciliation of changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows:

 1 July
 2021 

Cash 
 Flows 

  Non-cash  30 June
 2022  Acquisition  Others 

 RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Group
Amounts owing to directors  12,540,000  (12,300,798)  -  -  239,202 

Term loans  48,478,863  (26,798,108)  -  -  21,680,755 

Lease liabilities  268,975  (275,406)  191,362  -  184,931 

 61,287,838  (39,374,312)  191,362  -  22,104,888 

Company
Amounts owing to directors  8,540,000  (8,540,000)  -  -  - 

Amounts owing to subsidiaries  14,778,595  (14,752,545)  -  (9,282)  16,768 

 23,318,595  (23,292,545)  -  (9,282)  16,768 

 1 January 
 2020 

 Cash 
 Flows 

 Non-cash 
 Lease 

 Modification 
 30 June 

 2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Group
Amounts owing to directors  10,580,000  1,960,000  -  12,540,000 

Term loans  29,383,393  19,095,470  -  48,478,863 

Lease liabilities  406,292  (158,977)  21,660  268,975 

 40,369,685  20,896,493  21,660  61,287,838 

Company
Amounts owing to directors  6,580,000  1,960,000  -  8,540,000 

Amounts owing to subsidiaries  14,686,146  92,449  -  14,778,595 

Lease liabilities  94,497  (94,497)  -  - 

 21,360,643  21,360,643  -  23,318,595 

(c) Total cash outflows for leases

 During the financial year, the Group and the Company had total cash outflows for leases of RM322,018 (2021: 
RM225,007) and RM11,804 (2021: RM109,694) respectively.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Financial Year Ended 30 June 2022

(cont’d)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

 Meta Bright Group Berhad (formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.) (“the Company”) is a public limited company, 
incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 
The registered office of the Company is located at 12th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, 
Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia. The principal place of business of the Company is 
located at V06-07-03A, Signature 2, Lingkaran SV, Sunway Velocity, 55100, W.P Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 

 The Company is principally involved in investment holding. 

 The principal activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13. There have been no significant changes in the 
nature of these activities during the financial year.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors on 13 October 2022.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

 2.1 Statement of compliance

  The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), the International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

 2.2 Adoption of amendments/improvements to MFRSs

  The Group and the Company have adopted the following amendments/improvements to MFRSs for the 
current financial year:

Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs

MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

MFRS 16 Leases

MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

  The adoption of the above amendments/improvements to MFRSs did not have any significant effect on the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company and did not result in significant changes to the Group’s 
and the Company’s existing accounting policies.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  (cont’d)

 2.3 New MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs that have been issued, but yet to be effective

  The Group and the Company have not adopted the following new MFRS and amendments/improvements to 
MFRSs that have been issued, but yet to be effective:

Effective for 
financial periods 
beginning on or 

after

New MFRS

MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

Amendments/Improvements to MFRSs

MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 1 January 2022^/
1 January 2023#

MFRS 3 Business Combinations 1 January 2022/
1 January 2023#

MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 1 January 2023#

MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2023#

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2022^/
1 January 2023#

MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements Deferred

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2023#

MFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2022^

MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023

MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2023/
1 January 2023#

MFRS 107 Statements of Cash Flows 1 January 2023#

MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 1 January 2023

MFRS 112 Income Taxes 1 January 2023

MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment 1 January 2022/
1 January 2023#

MFRS 119 Employee Benefits 1 January 2023#

MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures Deferred/
1 January 2023#

MFRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation 1 January 2023#

MFRS 136 Impairment of Assets 1 January 2023#

MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 1 January 2022/
1 January 2023#

MFRS 138 Intangible Assets 1 January 2023#

MFRS 140 Investment Property 1 January 2023#

MFRS 141 Agriculture 1 January 2022^

  ^ The Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018-2020 
  # Amendments as to the consequence of effective of MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  (cont’d)

 2.3 New MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs that have been issued, but yet to be effective  (cont’d)

  2.3.1 The Group and the Company plan to adopt the above applicable new MFRS and amendments/
improvements to MFRSs when they become effective. A brief discussion on the above significant new 
MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs are summarised below.

	 	 	 Amendments	to	MFRS	3	Business	Combinations

   The Amendments update MFRS 3 by replacing a reference to an old version of the Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting with a reference to the latest version which was issued by Malaysian 
Accounting Standards Board in April 2018.

   Amendments to MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures

   These Amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in MFRS 10 
and those in MFRS 128, in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture.

   The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves a business, as defined in MFRS 3. A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves assets that do not constitute a business.

	 	 	 Amendments	to	MFRS	101	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements

   The Amendments include specifying that an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period must have substance and must exist at the end of the 
reporting period; clarifying that classification of liability is unaffected by the likelihood of the entity 
to exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 
period; clarifying how lending conditions affect classification of a liability; and clarifying requirements for 
classifying liabilities an entity will or may settle by issuing its own equity instruments.

   The Amendments require an entity to disclose its material accounting policy information rather 
than significant accounting policies. The amendments, amongst others, also include examples of 
circumstances in which an entity is likely to consider an accounting policy information to be material 
to its financial statements. To support this amendments, MFRS Practice Statement 2 was also amended 
to provide guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy information 
disclosures. The guidance and examples provided in the MFRS Practice Statement 2 highlight the 
need to focus on entity-specific information and demonstrate how the four-step materiality process 
can address standardised (or boilerplate) information and duplication of requirements of MFRSs in the 
accounting policy information disclosures.

   Amendments	to	MFRS	108	Accounting	Policies,	Changes	in	Accounting	Estimates	and	Errors

   The Amendments revise the definition of accounting estimates to clarify how an entity should 
distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. The distinction is 
important because the changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively to transactions, other 
events, or conditions from the date of that change, but changes in accounting policies are generally also 
applied retrospectively to past transactions and other past events.

   Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes

   The Amendments specify how an entity should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases 
and decommissioning obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION  (cont’d)

 2.3 New MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs that have been issued, but yet to be effective  (cont’d)

  2.3.1 The Group and the Company plan to adopt the above applicable new MFRS and amendments/
improvements to MFRSs when they become effective. A brief discussion on the above significant new 
MFRS and amendments/improvements to MFRSs are summarised below.  (cont’d)

   Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes  (cont’d)

   In specified circumstances, MFRS 112 exempts an entity from recognising deferred tax when it 
recognises assets or liabilities for the first time. There had been some uncertainties about whether the 
exemption from recognising deferred tax applied to transactions such as leases and decommissioning 
obligations – transactions for which an entity recognises both an asset and a liability. The amendments 
clarify that the exemption does not apply and that entity is required to recognise deferred tax on such 
transactions.

 2.4 Functional and presentation currency

  The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which they operate (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.

 2.5 Basis of measurement

  The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except as otherwise disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 Unless otherwise stated, the following accounting policies have been applied consistently to all the financial years 
presented in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company.

 3.1 Basis of consolidation

  The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries and associates used in the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies 
are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

  (a) Subsidiaries and business combination

   Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which the Group is exposed, or has rights, 
to variable returns from its involvement with the acquirees and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the acquirees.

   The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date the Group obtains control of the acquirees until the date the Group loses control of the acquirees. 

   The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations from the acquisition 
date.



82
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(cont’d)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.1 Basis of consolidation  (cont’d)

  (a) Subsidiaries and business combination  (cont’d)

   For a new acquisition, goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the following:

   • the fair value of the consideration transferred, calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair 
value of assets transferred (including contingent consideration), the liabilities incurred to former 
owners of the acquiree and the equity instruments issued by the Group. Any amounts that relate 
to pre-existing relationships or other arrangements before or during the negotiations for the 
business combination, that are not part of the exchange for the acquiree, will be excluded from the 
business combination accounting and be accounted for separately; plus 

   • the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date (the choice of 
measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis); plus 

   • if the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree; less 

   • the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities (including contingent 
liabilities) assumed at the acquisition date. 

   When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss at the 
acquisition date.

   Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

   If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures the previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree to its acquisition-date fair value, and recognises the resulting gain or loss, if 
any, in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that 
have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or 
transferred directly to retained earnings on the same basis as would be required if the acquirer had 
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

   If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in 
which the business combination occurs, the Group uses provisional fair value amounts for the items for 
which the accounting is incomplete. The provisional amounts are adjusted to reflect new information 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, including additional 
assets or liabilities identified in the measurement period. The measurement period for completion of 
the initial accounting ends as soon as the Group receives the information it was seeking about facts and 
circumstances or learns that more information is not obtainable, subject to the measurement period not 
exceeding one year from the acquisition date.

   Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the former 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the former 
subsidiary from the consolidated statement of financial position. Any gain or loss arising on the loss 
of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the former subsidiary, then 
such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as 
an associate or a financial asset.

   Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions. The difference between the Group’s share of net assets before and 
after the change, and the fair value of the consideration received or paid, is recognised directly in equity. 

  (b) Associate

   Associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, to the financial 
and operating policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.1 Basis of consolidation  (cont’d)

  (b) Associate  (cont’d)

   Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method.

   Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The cost of 
investment includes transaction costs. Subsequently, the carrying amount is adjusted to recognise 
changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate.

   When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount of that 
interest including any long-term investments is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is 
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of 
the associate.

   When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in the 
former associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair value and this amount 
is regarded as the initial carrying amount of a financial asset. Any difference between the carrying 
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment 
and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

   When the Group’s interest in an associate decreases but does not result in a loss of significant influence, 
any retained interest is not remeasured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease in interest is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are also reclassified proportionately to the profit or loss if that gain or loss would be required to be 
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

  (c) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

   Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

   Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted associates are eliminated against the 
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the 
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

 3.2 Separate financial statements

  In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment in subsidiaries and associate are measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, unless the investment is classified as held for sale or 
distribution. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses shall be applied on the 
same basis as would be required for impairment of non-financial assets as disclosed in Note 3.14(b).

 3.3 Revenue and other income

  The Group and the Company recognise revenue that depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group and the Company expect to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

  Revenue recognition of the Group and the Company are applied for each contract with a customer or a 
combination of contracts with the same customer (or related parties of the customer). For practical expedient, 
the Group and the Company applied revenue recognition to a portfolio of contracts (or performance 
obligations) with similar characteristics in the property development business if the Group and the Company 
reasonably expect that the effects on the financial statements would not differ materially from recognising 
revenue on the individual contracts (or performance obligations) within that portfolio.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.3 Revenue and other income  (cont’d)

  (a) Revenue from hotel operations

   Hotel room revenue is recognised at a point in time when the services are rendered to the customer 
over their stay at the hotel. The transaction price is the net amount collected from the customer. 
Advance deposits on hotel rooms are recorded as customer deposits until services are provided to the 
customer.

   Revenue from the sale of goods or services is recognised at a point in time when the food and beverage, 
entertainment and retail goods is delivered, rendered or control transferred to the customer. Payment of 
the transaction price is due immediately when the customer purchases the food and beverage or retail 
goods.

  (b) Rental income

   Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease.

  (c) Property development

   The Group develops and sell residential and commercial properties. Contracts with customers may 
include multiple distinct promises to customers and therefore accounted for as separate performance 
obligations. In the contract with customer contains more than one performance obligation, when the 
stand-alone selling price are not directly observable, they are estimated based on expected cost plus 
margin approach.

   Revenue from residential and commercial properties are recognised as and when the control of the 
asset is transferred to the customer. Based on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to 
the contract, control of the asset is transferred over time as the Group’s performance does not create 
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for 
performance completed to date. Revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by reference 
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. The progress towards 
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is determined by the proportion of property 
development costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property 
development costs (an input method).

   Revenue from commercial properties are recognised as and when the control of the asset is transferred 
to the customer. Based on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control 
of the asset is transferred at a point in time as the Group’s performance does not create an asset with 
an alternative use to the Group but the Group does not have an enforceable right to payment for 
performance completed to date. Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the legal title has passed 
to the customer.

   The consideration is due based on the scheduled payments in the contract, therefore, no element 
of financing is deemed present. When a particular milestone is reached in excess of the scheduled 
payments, a contract asset will be recognised for the excess of revenue recognised to date under 
the input method over the progress billings to-date and include deposits or advances received from 
customers. When the progress billings to-date and include deposits or advances received from 
customers exceeds revenue recognised to date then the Group recognises a contract liability for the 
difference.

   Consistent with market practice, the Group collects deposit from customers for sale of properties. A 
contract liability is recognised for the customer deposits as the Group has obligations to transfer the 
goods or services to the customer in respect of deposits received. Customer deposits would be 
recognised as revenue upon transfer of goods or services to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.3 Revenue and other income  (cont’d)

  (d) Other income

	 	 	  Administrative charges receivable is recognised on an accrual basis.
	 	 	  Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

  (e) Management fee

   Management fee is recognised upon completion of services rendered in accordance with the terms of 
the agreement entered into.

 3.4 Employee benefits

  (a) Short-term employee benefits

   Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of wages, salaries, social security contributions, 
annual bonuses, paid annual leave, sick leave and non-monetary benefits are recognised as an expense 
in the financial year where the employees have rendered their services to the Group and the Company.

  (b) Defined contribution plan

   As required by law, the Group and the Company contribute to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”), 
the national defined contribution plan. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the profit or 
loss in the period in which the employees render their services.

 3.5 Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs are interests and other costs that the Group and the Company incur in connection with 
borrowing of funds.

  Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

  Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use 
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready 
for their intended use or sale.

  The Group and the Company begin capitalising borrowing costs when the Group and the Company have 
incurred the expenditures for the asset, incurred related borrowing costs and undertaken activities that are 
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale.

  Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

 3.6 Income tax

  Income tax expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are 
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognised 
directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

  (a) Current tax

   Current tax is the expected taxes payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the financial 
year, using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous financial years.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.6 Income tax  (cont’d)

  (b) Deferred tax

   Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the statements of financial 
position. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred 
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

   Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary differences arise from the initial recognition of assets 
and liabilities in a transaction which is not a business combination and that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associate, except where the Group is able to control the reversal timing of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with 
such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part 
or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit 
will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.

   Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

   Where investment properties are carried at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy as 
disclosed in Note 3.9, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that 
would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless the property is 
depreciable and is held within the business model whose objective is to consume substantially all the 
economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale.

   Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or 
loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

   Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle their 
income tax recoverable and income tax payable on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realised simultaneously.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.6 Income tax  (cont’d)

  (c) Sales and services tax

   Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales and services tax except: 

	 	 	  where the sales and services tax incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority, in which case the sales and services tax is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

	 	 	  receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

   The net amount of sales and services tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the statements of financial position.

 3.7 Property, plant and equipment

  (a) Recognition and measurement

   Property, plant and equipment were initially stated at cost. Land and building were subsequently shown 
at market value, based on valuations of external independent valuers, less subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. All other property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. The policy for the recognition 
and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.14(b).

   Cost of assets includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and any 
other costs that are directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, 
and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. 

   Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of 
that equipment.

   When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

  (b) Subsequent costs

   The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that the 
future economic benefits associated with the part will flow to the Group or the Company and its cost 
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the profit or loss as incurred.

  (c) Depreciation

   Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated.

   All other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on straight-line basis by allocating their 
depreciable amounts over their remaining useful lives. 

Building 2%

Plant and machinery 5% to 10%

Motor vehicles 10%

Furniture, fittings and renovations 5% to 20%

Computers and office equipment 5% to 20%
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.7 Property, plant and equipment  (cont’d)

  (c) Depreciation  (cont’d)

   The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and adjusted as appropriate.

  (d) Derecognition

   An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is 
recognised in profit or loss.

   Property, plant and equipment (other than freehold land) are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement 
of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.14(b).

   Freehold land and building are measured at fair value, based on valuations by external independent 
valuers, less accumulated depreciation on building and any accumulated impairment losses recognised 
after the date of revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the 
fair value of the freehold land and building does not differ materially from the carrying amount. Any 
accumulated depreciation as at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount 
of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

   A revaluation surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the revaluation 
reserve. However, the increase shall be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. If an asset’s carrying 
amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease shall be recognised in profit or loss. 
However, the decrease shall be recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of any credit 
balance existing in the revaluation reserve in respect of that asset.

   The revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings as the assets are used. The amount of 
revaluation reserve transferred is the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying 
amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost.

 3.8 Leases

  (a) Definition of lease

   At inception of a contract, the Group and the Company assess whether a contract is, or contains, a 
lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group and the Company assess whether:

    the contract involves the use of an identified asset; 
    the Group and the Company have the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits 

from use of the asset throughout the period of use; and 
    the Group and the Company have the right to direct the use of the asset.

  (b) Lessee accounting

   At the lease commencement date, the Group and the Company recognise a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases 
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets.

   The Group and the Company present right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property in Note 11(e) and lease liabilities in Note 24(b). 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.8 Leases  (cont’d)

  (b) Lessee accounting  (cont’d)

   Right-of-use asset

   The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

   The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses, and adjust for any remeasurement of the lease liabilities. The right-of-
use asset is depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the earlier of 
the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. If the Group and the 
Company expect to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life 
of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts from the commencement date of the underlying asset. 
The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 3.14(b) 
to the financial statements.

   Lease liability 

   The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group and the Company use their incremental borrowing rate. 

   Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

    fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives; 
    variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

at the commencement date; 
    the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
    the exercise price of a purchase option, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 

and 
    payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an 

option to terminate the lease. 

   The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

   The Group and the Company remeasure the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the 
related right-of-use asset) whenever:

    the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase 
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments 
using a revised discount rate. 

	 	 	  the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due 
to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

	 	 	  a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate. 

   The Group and the Company have elected not to separate non-lease components and account for the 
lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.8 Leases  (cont’d)

  (b) Lessee accounting  (cont’d)

   Short-term leases and leases of low value assets

   The Group and the Company have elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases and leases of low value assets. The Group and the Company recognise the lease 
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
asset are consumed.

  (c) Lessor accounting

   A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. All other leases that do not meet this criterion are classified as operating leases.

   If an entity in the Group is a lessor in an operating lease, the underlying asset is not derecognised but 
is presented in the statements of financial position according to the nature of the asset. Lease income 
from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from 
the leased asset is diminished.

   When applies contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Group applies MFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers to allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.

 3.9 Investment properties

  Investment properties are properties held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both.

  Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair 
values of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

  Cost includes purchase price and any directly attributable costs incurred to bring the property to its present 
location and condition intended for use as an investment property.

  An investment property is derecognised on its disposal or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gains and losses arising from derecognition of 
the asset is recognised in the profit or loss.

  Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from 
investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. For a transfer from owner-occupied property to 
investment property, any difference arising on the date of change in use between the carrying amount of 
the item immediately prior to the transfer and its fair value is recognised directly in equity as a revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment.

 3.10 Inventories

  Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

  Costs of food and beverages include purchase price and the incidental expenses incurred. Costs of completed 
properties comprises all direct construction cost and land cost, and direct development expenditure which is 
determined by the specific identification basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.10 Inventories  (cont’d)

  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

  Property under development

  Cost includes:

	 	  leasehold rights for land
	 	  amounts paid to contractors for construction
	 	  borrowing costs, planning and design costs, costs for site preparation, professional fees for legal 

services, property transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related costs

  The cost of inventory recognised in profit or loss is determined with reference to the specific costs incurred 
on the property sold and an allocation of any non-specific costs based on the relative sale value of the 
property sold.

 3.11 Contract assets/(liabilities)

  Contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customers 
when that right is conditioned on something other than the passage of time (for example, the Group’s future 
performance). The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with 
Note 3.14(a).

  Contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to customers for which the Group has received 
the consideration or has billed the customers.

 3.12 Cash and cash equivalents

  For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank 
balances and deposits which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents 
are presented net of bank overdrafts.

 3.13 Financial instruments

  Financial instruments are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group 
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.

  Except for the trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the 
Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient, the financial instruments are recognised 
initially at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
asset and financial liability. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss 
are expensed in profit or loss. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for 
which the Group and the Company have applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price 
determined under MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

  An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative 
if, and only if, it is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract; it 
is a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a 
derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured as fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in 
the event an embedded derivative is recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with the policy 
applicable to the nature of the host contract.

  A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for 
separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its 
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.13 Financial instruments  (cont’d)

  (a) Subsequent measurement

   The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows:

   (i) Financial assets

    For the purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in two categories:

     Financial assets at amortised cost
     Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income with no 

recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition

    The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual cash flows characteristics of the financial assets.

    The Group and the Company reclassify financial assets when and only when their business models 
for managing those assets change.

    Debt instruments

    Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s and the Company’s 
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The 
measurement which the Group and the Company classify their debt instruments:

    ▪ Amortised cost

     Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial 
assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and 
are subject to impairment. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment is 
in accordance with Note 3.14(a). Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
financial asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

    Equity instruments

    The Group and the Company subsequently measure all equity investments at fair value. Upon 
initial recognition, the Group and the Company can make an irrevocable election to classify its 
equity investments that is not held for trading as equity instruments designated at FVOCI. The 
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

    Gains and losses on these financial assets are not recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are 
recognised as other income in the profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, 
except when the Group and the Company benefit from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the 
cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. 
Equity instruments designated at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

   (ii) Financial liabilities

    The Group and the Company classify their financial liabilities at amortised cost.

    Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using 
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the financial 
liabilities are derecognised and through the amortisation process.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.13 Financial instruments  (cont’d)

  (b) Financial guarantee contracts

   A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

   Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, net of transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
liability is measured at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with 
Section 5.5 of MFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative 
amount of income recognised in accordance with the principles of MFRS 15.

  (c) Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets

   A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms 
require delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace concerned.

   A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets shall be recognised and derecognised, as applicable, 
using trade date accounting (i.e. the date the Group and the Company commit themselves to purchase 
or sell an asset).

   Trade date accounting refers to:

   (i) the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date; and
   (ii) derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the 

recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date.

   Generally, interest does not start to accrue on the asset and corresponding liability until the settlement 
date when title passes.

  (d) Derecognition

   A financial asset or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when:

   (i) the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
   (ii) the Group and the Company have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from the asset 

or have assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a 
third party; and either (a) the Group and the Company have transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group and the Company have neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but have transferred control of the asset.

   The Group and the Company evaluate if, and to what extent, they have retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. When they have neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards 
of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group and the Company continue to recognise 
the transferred asset to the extent of their continuing involvement. In that case, the Group and the 
Company also recognise an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group and the Company have 
retained.

   Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Group and the Company could be required to repay.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.13 Financial instruments  (cont’d)

  (d) Derecognition  (cont’d)

   On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount (measured at the date 
of derecognition) and the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability 
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

   A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

  (e) Offsetting of financial instruments

   Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statements 
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

   In accounting for a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the entity shall 
not offset the transferred asset and the associated liability.

 3.14 Impairment of assets

  (a) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

   Financial assets measured at amortised cost, financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), contract assets and financial guarantee contracts will be subject to 
the impairment requirement in MFRS 9 Financial Instruments which is related to the accounting for 
expected credit losses on the financial assets. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of credit 
losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

   The Group and the Company measure loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses, except for the following, which are measured as 12-month expected credit losses:

   ▪ debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
   ▪ other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. risk of default occurring over the 

expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

   For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by MFRS 
9 to measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

   When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Group and the Company consider 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. 
This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s and 
the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking 
information.

   The Group and the Company assume that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if 
it is more than 30 days past due.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.14 Impairment of assets  (cont’d)

  (a) Impairment of financial assets and contract assets  (cont’d)

   The Group and the Company consider a financial asset to be in default when:

   ▪ the borrower is unable to pay its credit obligations to the Group and the Company in full, without 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group and the Company; or

   ▪ the contractual payment of the financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group and 
the Company have reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate.

   Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events 
over the expected life of a financial instrument.

   12-month expected credit losses are the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represent the 
expected credit losses that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date.

   The maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual 
period over which the Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk.

   Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of 
all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial instrument. A cash shortfall is the difference 
between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 
that the entity expects to receive.

   Expected credit losses are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial assets.

   At each reporting date, the Group and the Company assess whether financial assets carried at amortised 
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence 
that a financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data about the following events:

   ▪ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the debtor;
   ▪ a breach of contract, such as a default of past due event;
   ▪ the lender(s) of the debtor, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the debtor’s financial 

difficulty, having granted to the debtor a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider; or

   ▪ it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

   The amount of impairment losses (or reversal) shall be recognised in profit or loss, as an impairment 
gain or loss. For financial assets measured at FVOCI, the loss allowance shall be recognised in other 
comprehensive income and shall not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the statements 
of financial position.

   The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group and the Company 
determine that the debtor does not have assets or source of income that could generate sufficient 
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off 
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s and the Company’s 
procedure for recovery of amounts due.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.14 Impairment of assets  (cont’d)

  (b) Impairment of non-financial assets

   The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (except for inventories, contract assets and investment 
properties measured at fair value) are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the Group and the Company 
make an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.

   For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of non-
financial assets or cash-generating units (“CGUs”).

   The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. In determining the fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used.

   Where the carrying amount of an asset exceed its recoverable amount, the carrying amount of asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount.

   Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, except for assets that were previously revalued with 
the revaluation surplus recognised in other comprehensive income. In the latter case, the impairment is 
recognised in other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

   An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. An impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the assets recoverable 
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. Reversal of impairment loss is restricted by the 
asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at 
revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

 3.15 Share capital

  Ordinary shares are equity instruments. An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest 
in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. Dividends on ordinary shares are 
recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared.

 3.16 Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.

  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions that are determined based on the expected 
future cash flows to settle the obligation are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provisions due to passage of time is recognised as finance costs.

  Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision 
is reversed.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d)

 3.17 Operating segments

  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. All Executives Directors of the Group, who are responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the chief operating decision 
maker that makes strategic decisions.

 3.18 Fair value measurements

  Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for share-based payment and lease transactions, is determined 
as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence of a principal 
market, in the most advantageous market.

  For a non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

  When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group and the Company use observable market 
data as far as possible. Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the input 
used in the valuation technique as follows:

  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group and 
the Company can access at the measurement date.

  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly.

  Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

  The Group and the Company recognise transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of 
the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfers.

 3.19 Earnings per share

  The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held.

  Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

 3.20 Contingencies

  A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not wholly 
within the control of the Group and of the Company.

  Contingent liability is also referred as a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised 
because:

  (a) it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation; or

  (b) the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

  Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of the revenue and expenses 
during the reporting period. It also requires directors to exercise their judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies. Although these estimates and judgement are based on the 
directors’ best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ. 

 The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity that have the most significant effect on the Group’s 
and the Company’s financial statements, or areas where assumptions and estimates that have a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment to the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements within the next financial 
year are disclosed as follows:

 (a) Fair value of investment properties

  The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair values being recognised in 
profit or loss. The Group engaged external valuer to determine the fair values. The valuation methods 
adopted by the valuer include sales comparison method, being comparison of current prices in an active 
market for similar properties in the same location and condition and where necessary, adjusting for location, 
accessibility, visibility, time, terrain, size, present market trends and other differences, income approach, being 
the projected net income and other benefits that are the subject property can generate over the life of the 
property capitalised at market derived yields to arrive at the present value of the property. Judgement is 
made in determining the appropriate valuation methods and the key assumptions used in the valuations. Any 
changes in these assumptions will have an impact on the carrying amounts of the investment properties.

  The carrying amounts of the investment properties are disclosed in Note 12.

 (b) Valuation of property, plant and equipment

  Freehold land and building are carried at revalued amount. Revaluation of these assets is based on valuation 
performed by independent professional property valuers. The independent professional property valuers 
may exercise judgement in determining discount rates, estimates of future cash flows, capitalisation rate, 
terminal year value, market freehold rental and other factors used in their valuation process. Judgement has 
been applied in estimating prices for less readily observable external parameters. Other factors such as model 
assumptions, market dislocations and unexpected correlations may materially affect these estimates and the 
resulting valuation estimates. Any changes in these assumptions will have an impact on the carrying amounts 
of the revalued properties.

  The carrying amounts of the property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 11.

 (c) Net realisable value of inventories

  The Group writes down its inventories based on the assessment of their estimated net selling price. 
Inventories are written down when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts 
may not be recoverable. The management specifically analyses sales trend and current economic trends when 
making a judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the write-down of inventories. Where expectations differ 
from the original estimates, the differences will impact the carrying amounts of inventories.

  The carrying amounts of the inventories are disclosed in Note 16.

 (d) Property development revenue and expenses

  The Group recognised property development revenue and expenses in profit or loss by using the progress 
towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation. The progress towards complete satisfaction of 
performance obligation is determined by the proportion that property development costs incurred for work 
performed to date bear to the estimated total property development costs.



ANNUAL REPORT
2022 99

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS  (cont’d)

 (d) Property development revenue and expenses  (cont’d)

  Significant judgement is required in determining the progress towards complete satisfaction of performance 
obligation, the extent of the property development costs incurred, the estimated total property development 
revenue and expenses, as well as the recoverability of the development projects. In making the judgement, the 
Group evaluates based on past experience and by relying on the work of specialists.

  The carrying amounts of property development costs, contract assets and contract liabilities are disclosed in 
Notes 16 and 19.

5. REVENUE

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Revenue from contract customers:
Over time

Property development  246,026  2,912,954  -  - 

Interest income  1,110  50  -  - 

At a point in time

Hotel operations  12,951,603  7,899,645  -  - 

Management fees  -  -  800,000  709,989 

Sale of goods and services  -  12,688  -  - 

Other income from hotel operations  9,685,626  5,335,857  -  - 

Sale of completed properties  -  502,000  -  - 

Revenue from other source:
Rental income from investment property  2,820,169  4,236,184  -  - 

 25,704,534  20,899,378  800,000  709,989 

 Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations

 As of 30 June 2022, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 
obligation is RM23,619,754 and the entity will recognise this revenue as the building is completed, which is 
expected to occur over the next 12–36 months.
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6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

 The Group prepared the following segment information in accordance with MFRS 8 Operating Segments based on 
the internal reports of the Group’s strategic business units which are regularly reviewed by all executive directors 
for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.

 (a) General information

  The Group’s operating business is classified according to the following operating divisions:

  (i) Investment holding;
  (ii) Leasing and financing;
  (iii) Hospitality;
  (iv) Investment properties; 
  (v) Property development; and
  (vi) Others - inactive companies 

 (b) Measurement of reportable segments

  Segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and 
presenting the consolidated financial statements.

  Inter-segment pricing is determined on negotiated basis.

  Segment profit

  Segment results is measured based on segment profit before tax that are reviewed by all executive directors. 
There are no significant changes from prior financial year in the measurement methods used to determine 
reported segment results.

  Segment assets

  The total of segment assets are measured based on all assets of a segment other than current and deferred 
tax assets.

  Segment liabilities

  The total of segment liabilities are measured based on all liabilities of a segment other than current and 
deferred tax liabilities.

 (c) Geographical Information

  No segmental information by geographical segment has been presented as the Group principally operates in 
Malaysia.

 (d) Major customer

  During the financial year, revenue from a major customer in the hotel operation segment represent 
approximately RM4,717,411 (2021: RM Nil) or 18% (2021: Nil) of the Group’s revenue.
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META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD 
(formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.) [200001013359 (515965-A)]

6.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION  (cont’d)

 Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue is as follows:

 (a) Inter-segment revenue

  Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

 (b) Reconciliation of assets

 Group
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Tax assets  -  572,189 

Segment assets  243,966,269  171,146,956 

 243,966,269  171,719,145 

 (c) Reconciliation of liabilities

 Group
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Deferred tax liabilities  5,900,034  4,048,734 

Segment liabilities  76,485,051  96,417,597 

 82,385,085  100,466,331 

7. FINANCE COSTS, NET OF FINANCE INCOME

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Finance income:

- Housing development account  1,522  3,140  -  - 

- Current accounts  130,977  -  108,620  - 

- Deposits placed with licensed banks  7,149  201,648  -  - 

- Overdue interests on trade receivables  12,529  6,185  -  - 

 152,177  210,973  108,620  - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD 
(formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.) [200001013359 (515965-A)]

7. FINANCE COSTS, NET OF FINANCE INCOME  (cont’d)

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Finance costs:

- Term loans  (2,595,880)  (4,692,774)  -  - 

- Bank overdrafts  (251,392)  (211,031)  -  - 

- Lease liabilities  (15,604)  (31,552)  -  (2,471)

- Trade payable  (92,667)  -  -  - 

- Amount owing to a subsidiary  -  -  (969,450)  (2,163,424)

 (2,955,543)  (4,935,357)  (969,450)  (2,165,895)

 (2,803,366)  (4,724,384)  (860,830)  (2,165,895)

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 

 Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following items have been (charged)/credited in 
arriving at profit/(loss) before tax: 

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Auditors’ remuneration:

- Statutory audit

- current year/period  (201,000)  (191,000)  (102,000)  (102,000)

- prior year  -  2,500  -  - 

- Non-statutory audit  (86,000)  (6,000)  (86,000)  (6,000)

Bad debts written off  -  -  (8,459)  - 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  (2,622,400)  (5,735,040)  (11,135)  (104,414)

Deposits written off  (10,120)  -  -  - 

Employee benefits expenses (Note a)  (8,045,796)  (10,695,371)  (2,460,945)  (3,147,420)

Fair value adjustment on payable measured at 
amortised cost  271,652  -  -  - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX  (cont’d)

 Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following items have been (charged)/credited in 
arriving at profit/(loss) before tax:  (cont’d)

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Fair value loss on investment properties  -  (19,998,300)  -  - 

Gain on derecognition of an associate  1,775  -  1,775  - 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  53,968  -  53,968 

Gain on lease modification  -  763  -  - 

Impairment losses on:

- amounts owing by subsidiaries  -  -  (91,551)  (737,613)

- investment in subsidiaries  -  -  (32,089,450)  (94,403,536)

- trade receivables  (325,298)  -  -  - 

- property, plant and equipment  -  (27,332,041)  -  - 

Inventories written down  -  (43,877,604)  -  - 

Inventories written off  -  (7,114)  -  - 

Property, plant and equipment written off  -  (183)  -  (183)

Rent concession income  -  1,000  -  - 

Reversal of impairment losses:

- amount owing by subsidiaries  -  -  32,079,766  - 

- financing receivables  18,654  -  -  - 

- trade receivables  2,824  6,619  -  - 

- other receivables  -  20,817  -  - 

- property, plant and equipment  7,579,356  -  -  - 

Expenses relating to short-term leases:

- equipment  (17,538) (21,164)  -  - 

- parking (3,240)  - (3,240)  - 

Expenses relating to low-value assets:

- equipment (10,230) (13,314) (8,564) (12,726)

Rental income  -  2,100  -  - 

Write-back of payables  -  -  9,282  - 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD 
(formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.) [200001013359 (515965-A)]

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX  (cont’d)

 (a) Employee benefits expenses:

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Wages and salaries  5,278,844  6,995,378  803,389  936,101 

Defined contribution plans  635,777  888,421  98,427  114,492 

Defined benefit plans  81,357  118,666  7,815  9,671 

Other staff related costs  369,958  332,352  50,782  14,516 

 6,365,936  8,334,817  960,413  1,074,780 

Directors’ fees  216,000  266,967  216,000  266,967 

Directors’ other emoluments  1,463,860  2,093,587  1,284,532  1,805,673 

 1,679,860  2,360,554  1,500,532  2,072,640 

Total  8,045,796  10,695,371  2,460,945  3,147,420 

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

 The major components of income tax credit for the financial year/period ended 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 are 
as follows:

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Statements of comprehensive income 
Current income tax: 
Adjustment in respect of prior years  572,189  -  -  - 

Deferred tax: (Note 25)

Origination/(Reversal) of temporary differences  1,670,659  (7,115,316)  -  - 

Adjustment in respect of prior years  152,210  201,574  -  - 

 1,822,869  (6,913,742)  -  - 

Income tax expense/(credit)  2,395,058  (6,913,742)  -  - 

 Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory income tax rate of 24% (30.6.2021: 24%) of the 
estimated assessable profit for the financial year/period. 
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(cont’d)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)  (cont’d)

 The reconciliations from the tax amount at the statutory income tax rate to the Group’s and the Company’s tax 
expense/(credit) are as follows:

 Group  Company
Financial

year from
1.7.2021 to

30.6.2022

Financial
period from
1.1.2020 to

30.6.2021

Financial
year from

1.7.2021 to
30.6.2022

Financial
period from
1.1.2020 to

30.6.2021
RM RM RM RM

Profit/(Loss) before tax  6,469,570  (107,331,696)  (4,412,239)  (101,096,149)

Taxation at applicable statutory  
tax rate of 24% (30.6.2021: 24%)  1,552,697  (25,759,607)  (1,058,937)  (24,263,076)

Tax effects arising from:

- non-deductible expenses  1,151,029  17,936,796 8,048,137  23,737,142 

- non-taxable income  (1,883,185)  (13,947)  (7,701,798)  - 

- utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses  (1,427)  -  -  - 

- deferred tax assets not recognised on tax losses 
and temporary differences  851,545  721,442  712,598  525,934 

- adjustment in respect of current income tax of 
prior years  572,189  -  -  - 

- adjustment in respect of deferred tax of prior 
years  152,210  201,574  -  - 

Income tax expense/(credit)  2,395,058  (6,913,742)  -  - 

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross):

 Group  Company
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

 Financial 
 year from 

 1.7.2021 to 
 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Deductible temporary differences  25,067  116,350  -  - 

Unutilised tax losses  211,304,271  207,707,815  40,555,172  37,596,045 

Unutilised capital allowances  750,969  713,985  687,216  677,191 

Net deferred tax assets  212,080,307  208,538,150  41,242,388  38,273,236 

Potential deferred tax assets not recognised at 
24% (30.6.2021: 24%)  50,899,275  50,049,156  9,898,173  9,185,576 

 The availability of unutilised tax losses for offsetting against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries in 
Malaysia are subject to requirements under the Income Tax Act, 1967 and guidelines issued by the tax authority.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD 
(formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.) [200001013359 (515965-A)]

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)  (cont’d)

 Pursuant to Section 8 of the Finance Act 2021 (Act 833), the amendment to Section 44(5F) of Income Tax Act 
1967, the time limit on the carried forward unutilised tax losses has been extended to maximum 10 consecutive 
years. This amendment is deemed to have effect for the year of assessment 2019 and subsequent year of 
assessment. 

 Any unutilised tax losses brought forward from year of assessment 2018 can be carried forward for another 10 
consecutive years of assessment (i.e. from year of assessments 2019 to 2028).

 The unutilised tax losses are available for offset against future taxable profits of the Group and the Company up to 
the following financial years:

 Group  Company 
 30.6.2022  30.6.2021  30.6.2022  30.6.2021 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

2025  -    202,906,870  -    33,813,096 

2026  -    1,356,678  -    1,138,325 

2027  -    1,753,694  -    1,309,880 

2028  202,900,928  1,690,573  33,813,096  1,334,744 

2029  1,356,678  -    1,138,325  -   

2030  1,753,694  -    1,309,880  -   

2031  1,690,573  -    1,334,744  -   

2032  3,602,398  -    2,959,127  -   

 211,304,271  207,707,815  40,555,172  37,596,045 

10. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

 Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share

 Basic earnings/(loss) per share are based on the loss for the financial year/period attributable to owners of the 
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares during the financial year/period, calculated as 
follows:

 Group
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company 
Profit/(Loss) for the financial year/period (RM)  4,074,512  (100,417,954)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings/(loss) per share 
(unit)  827,733,401  325,230,108 

Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (sen)  0.49  (30.88)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

10. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE  (cont’d)

 Diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share

 Diluted earnings/(loss) per share are based on the profit/(loss) for the financial year/period attributable to owners of 
the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year/period plus 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential 
ordinary shares into ordinary shares, calculated as follows:

 Group
 Financial 

 year from 
 1.7.2021 to 

 30.6.2022 

 Financial 
 period from 
 1.1.2020 to 

 30.6.2021 

Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company 
Profit/(Loss) for the financial year/period (RM)  4,074,512  (100,417,954)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings/(loss) per share 
(unit)  827,733,401  325,230,108 

Effect of dilution from warrants  96,145,857  -   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings/(loss) per share  923,879,258  325,230,108 

Diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (sen)  0.44  (30.88)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD 
(formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.) [200001013359 (515965-A)]

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group
 Freehold

 land  Building 
Plant and

 machinery 
 Motor

 vehicles 

 Furniture,
 fittings and
 renovation 

Computers
 and office

 equipment 

 Construction
 work-in-
 progress 

 Right-
of-use 
assets  Total 

2022  Note  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cost/Valuation

At 1 July 2021

- At cost  -  -  3,335,598  1,367,966  5,442,507  1,527,261  -  388,572  12,061,904 

- At valuation  3,916,467  116,558,739  -  -  -  -  -  -  120,475,206 

 3,916,467  116,558,739  3,335,598  1,367,966  5,442,507  1,527,261  -  388,572  132,537,110 

Additions  -  -  -  -  1,005,645  160,917  1,146,039  191,362  2,503,963 

Written off  -  -  -  -  -  (15,264)  -  -  (15,264)

Reclassification  -  -  136,072  -  -  -  -  (136,072)  - 

Adjustment on  
revaluation  568,614  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  568,614 

At 30 June 2022  4,485,081  116,558,739  3,471,670  1,367,966  6,448,152  1,672,914  1,146,039  443,862  135,594,423 

Accumulated 
Depreciation

At 1 July 2021  -  23,005,013  3,045,643  1,367,966  4,863,688  734,015  -  252,400  33,268,725 

Depreciation 
charge for the 
financial year 8  -  2,147,970  77,815  -  238,332  132,231  -  167,665  2,764,013 

Adjustment  -  -  (113,213)  -  (28,353)  (47)  -  -  (141,613)

Written off  -  -  -  -  -  (15,264)  -  -  (15,264)

Reclassification  -  -  136,072  -  -  -  -  (136,072)  - 

At 30 June 2022  -  25,152,983  3,146,317  1,367,966  5,073,667  850,935  -  283,993  35,875,861 

Accumulated 
Impairment 
Loss

At 1 July 2021  429,566  28,040,627  -  -  -  -  -  -  28,470,193 

Reversal during 
the financial 
year 8  (429,566)  (7,149,790)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (7,579,356)

At 30 June 2022  -  20,890,837  -  -  -  -  -  -  20,890,837 

Carrying Amount

At 30 June 2022

- At cost  -  -  325,353  -  1,374,485  821,979  1,146,039  159,869  3,827,725 

- At valuation  4,485,081  70,514,919  -  -  -  -  -  -  75,000,000 

 4,485,081  70,514,919  325,353  -  1,374,485  821,979  1,146,039  159,869  78,827,725 
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(cont’d)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  (cont’d)

Group
 Freehold 

 land  Building 
Plant and

 machinery 
 Motor

 vehicles 

 Furniture,
 fittings and
 renovation 

Computers
 and office

 equipment 
 Right-of-

 use assets  Total 

2021 Note  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cost/Valuation

At 1 January 2020

- At cost  -  - 3,335,598 1,202,458 5,361,171 1,505,432 869,217  12,273,876 

- At valuation  4,983,423  116,558,739  -  -  -  -  -  121,542,162 

 4,983,423  116,558,739  3,335,598  1,202,458  5,361,171  1,505,432  869,217  133,816,038 

Additions  -  -  -  -  85,211  22,235  -  107,446 

Disposals  -  -  -  -  (3,200)  -  (335,717)  (338,917)

Written off  -  -  -  -  (675)  (406)  -  (1,081)

Reclassification  -  -  -  165,508  -  -  (165,508)  - 

Lease modification  -  -  -  -  -  -  20,580  20,580 

Adjustment on revaluation  (1,066,956)  -  -  -  -  -  -  (1,066,956)

At 30 June 2021  3,916,467  116,558,739  3,335,598  1,367,966  5,442,507  1,527,261  388,572  132,537,110 

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1 January 2020  -  18,404,010  2,786,943  1,202,458  4,530,972  477,677  447,305  27,849,365 

Depreciation charge for  
the financial period 8  -  4,601,003  258,700  -  336,591  256,561  282,185  5,735,040 

Disposals  -  -  -  -  (3,200)  -  (308,739)  (311,939)

Written off  -  -  -  -  (675)  (223)  -  (898)

Reclassification  -  -  -  165,508  -  -  (165,508)  - 

Adjustment on revaluation  -  -  -  -  -  -  (2,843)  (2,843)

At 30 June 2021  -  23,005,013  3,045,643  1,367,966  4,863,688  734,015  252,400  33,268,725 

Accumulated  
Impairment Loss

At 1 January 2020  -  1,138,152  -  -  -  -  -  1,138,152 

Charge for the  
financial period 8  429,566  26,902,475  -  -  -  -  -  27,332,041 

At 30 June 2021  429,566  28,040,627  -  -  -  -  -  28,470,193 

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2021

- At cost  -  -  289,955  -  578,819  793,246  136,172  1,798,192 

- At valuation  3,486,901  65,513,099  -  -  -  -  -  69,000,000 

 3,486,901  65,513,099  289,955  -  578,819  793,246  136,172  70,798,192 
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  (cont’d)

Company
 Motor 

 vehicles 

 Furniture, 
 fittings and 
 renovation 

Computers
and office 

 equipment  Total 
2022 Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cost
At 1 July 2021  1,061,889  4,946  75,779  1,142,614 
Additions  -  1,381  44,204  45,585 
Written off  -  -  (15,264)  (15,264)

At 30 June 2022  1,061,889  6,327  104,719  1,172,935 

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 July 2021  1,061,889  4,946  60,056  1,126,891 
Depreciation charge for the financial year 8  -  52  11,083  11,135 
Written off  -  -  (15,264)  (15,264)

At 30 June 2022  1,061,889  4,998  55,875  1,122,762 

Carrying Amount
At 30 June 2022  -  1,329  48,844  50,173 

Company
 Motor 

 vehicles 

 Furniture, 
 fittings and 
 renovation 

 Computers 
 and office 

 equipment 
 Right-of- 

 use assets  Total 
2021  Note  RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cost
At 1 January 2020  896,381  8,821  68,969  501,225  1,475,396 
Additions  -  -  7,216  -  7,216 
Disposals  -  (3,200)  -  (335,717)  (338,917)
Reclassification  165,508  -  -  (165,508)  - 
Written off  -  (675)  (406)  -  (1,081)

At 30 June 2021  1,061,889  4,946  75,779  -  1,142,614 

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 January 2020  896,357  8,821  50,363  379,773  1,335,314 
Depreciation  charge for 

the financial period 8  24  -  9,916  94,474  104,414 
Disposals  -  (3,200)  -  (308,739)  (311,939)
Reclassification  165,508  -  -  (165,508)  - 
Written off  -  (675)  (223)  -  (898)

At 30 June 2021  1,061,889  4,946  60,056  -  1,126,891 

Carrying Amount
At 30 June 2021  -  -  15,723  -  15,723 
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  (cont’d)

 (a) Freehold land and building

  The freehold land and building was carried at revalued amounts of RM75,000,000 and RM69,000,000 as at 
30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 respectively.

  Fair value information

  The carrying amount of freehold land and building carried at valuation are categorised as follows:

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Group  RM  RM  RM  RM 

2022
Freehold land and building  -  -  75,000,000  75,000,000 

2021
Freehold land and building  -  -  69,000,000  69,000,000 

  The fair values of freehold land and building were determined by external and independent property valuers, 
with appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of 
property being valued. The freehold land and building (at valuation) of the Group are for own use. 

  Transfer between levels of fair value hierarchy

  There are no transfers between levels of fair values hierarchy during the financial year/period ended 30 June 
2022 and 30 June 2021.

  Level 3 fair value

  Fair value of freehold land and building have been derived using the profit method. The profit method entails 
estimating the gross annual income that can be derived from the running of the property as a business 
concern. The net annual income is then arrived at by deducting therefrom the operating costs and outgoings 
incidental to the running of the business and ownership of the property, allowing a margin of profit for the 
running of the business. The net annual income so arrived at is then capitalised at a suitable rate of return 
consistent with the type and quality of investment to arrive at the market value.

 (b) Had the revalued freehold land and building been carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, the 
net carrying amount of the land and building that would have been included in the financial statements of the 
Group are as follows:

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Freehold land  3,916,467  3,916,467 
Building  90,486,390  93,553,726 

 (c) Assets pledged as security

  The freehold land and building with a carrying amount of RM75,000,000 (2021: RM69,000,000) have been 
pledged as securities for credit facilities granted to a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 24.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  (cont’d)

 (d) Impairment loss and subsequent reversal

  In the previous financial period, an impairment loss of RM27,332,041 was recognised in profit or loss under 
other expenses, representing the impairment of freehold land and building in the hospitality segment to its 
recoverable amount, as a result of revaluation. 

  During the financial year, the Group reassessed the recoverable amount of the freehold land and building and 
RM7,579,356 of the loss was reversed and recognised in profit or loss under other income.

  The recoverable amounts of freehold land and building as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 were based on 
valuation performed by independent valuer.

 (e) Right-of-use assets

  The Group and the Company lease several assets including office buildings, plant and machinery and motor 
vehicles.

  Information about leases for which the Group and the Company are lessee is presented below:

Group
 Office 

 buildings 
Plant and 

 machinery 
 Motor 

 vehicles  Total 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Carrying amount
At 1 January 2020  187,067  113,393  121,452  421,912 

Depreciation  (119,675)  (68,036)  (94,474)  (282,185)

Disposals  -  -  (26,978)  (26,978)

Lease modification  23,423  -  -  23,423 

At 30 June 2021  90,815  45,357  -  136,172 

Additions  191,362  -  -  191,362 

Depreciation  (122,308)  (45,357)  -  (167,665)

At 30 June 2022  159,869  -  -  159,869 

Company
 Motor 

 vehicles 
 RM 

Carrying amount
At 1 January 2020  121,452 

Additions  - 

Depreciation  (94,474)

Disposals  (26,978)

At 30 June 2021  - 

  The Group leases buildings for its office space. The leases for office space generally have lease term between 
2 to 3 years (2021: 2 to 3 years).

  The Group leases plant and machinery for its hospitality operations. The leases for plant and machinery 
generally have lease term of 3 years (2021: 3 years).
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Shopping complex, at fair value

At beginning of the financial year/period  62,593,700  82,592,000 

Fair value loss  -    (19,998,300)

At end of the financial year/period  62,593,700  62,593,700 

 Details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:

Descriptions Location Existing use

Shopping complex, including 
foodcourt, office/amusement area 
and supermarket

Kota Sri Mutiara Complex, Jalan 
Sultan Yahya Petra, 15150 Kota 
Bharu Kelantan.

Generate rental income

 The following are recognised in profit or loss in respect of investment properties:

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Rental income  2,625,656  3,941,317 

Direct operating expenses  (2,367,980)  (3,594,029)

 Fair value information

 Fair value of investment properties are categorised as follows:

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Group  RM  RM  RM  RM 

2022
Shopping complex  -  -  62,593,700  62,593,700 

2021
Shopping complex  -  -  62,593,700  62,593,700 

 Policy on transfer between levels

 The fair value of an asset to be transferred between levels is determined as of the date of the event or change in 
circumstances that caused the transfer.
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES  (cont’d)

 Transfer between levels of fair value hierarchy

 There are no Level 1 or Level 2 investment properties during the financial year/period ended 30 June 2022 and 30 
June 2021.

 Level 3 fair value

 Fair value of investment properties have been derived using the sales comparison approach. Sales prices of 
comparable buildings in close proximity are adjusted for differences in location, size, age and condition of the 
building, floor level, tenure, title restrictions and other relevant characteristics to arrive at the market value.

 Valuation process applied by the Group 

 The fair value of investment properties is determined by an external independent property valuer, C H Williams 
Talhar & Wong Sdn. Bhd., a member of the Institute of Valuers in Malaysia, with appropriate recognised professional 
qualifications and experience in the location and category of property being valued. The valuation company 
provides the fair value of the Group’s investment property portfolio yearly. Changes in Level 3 fair values are 
analysed by the Group yearly after obtaining the valuation report from the valuation company. There has been no 
change to the valuation technique during the financial year. 

 Highest and best use

 In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and best use of the investment properties are 
their current use.

13. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

 Company 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Unquoted shares, at cost
At beginning of the financial year/period  197,753,003  197,753,003 

Additions  40,000,001  - 

Less: Impairment loss  (133,951,378)  (101,861,928)

At end of the financial year/period 103,801,626  95,891,075 

 The movement in allowance for impairment loss of investment in subsidiaries are as follows:

 Company 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At beginning of the financial year/period  (101,861,928)  (7,458,392)

Impairment loss for the financial year/period  (32,089,450)  (94,403,536)

At end of the financial year/period  (133,951,378)  (101,861,928)
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13. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES  (cont’d)

 Details of the subsidiaries, which are incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows:

Name of Company Effective Equity Interest Principal activities
 2022  2021 

% %

Direct subsidiaries

Eastern Biscuit Factory Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Property development, investment in properties 
and hotel operations

FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Property development and establishment of a 
platform that act as an agent on behalf of the 
vendors, reseller or in any other capacity to 
facilitate, process, resell and conclude the order 
for the company or other vendors consumers.

FBO Properties Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Dormant

Perfect Diamond Capital  
Sdn. Bhd. 

100 100 Investment holding

EBF Land Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Investment holding

Meta Bright Sdn. Bhd. 100  - Investment holding

Indirect subsidiaries

Subsidiary of Eastern Biscuit 
Factory Sdn. Bhd.

FBO Land (Serendah) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Property investment

Subsidiary of Perfect Diamond 
Capital Sdn. Bhd.

Rimaflex Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Money lending

Subsidiary of EBF Land Sdn. Bhd.

Exquisite Properties Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Dormant

 (i) Acquisition of a subsidiary

  2022

  On 8 March 2022, the Company had acquired a new subsidiary, Meta Bright Sdn. Bhd.(“MBSB”) with an 
issued and paid-up capital of 1 ordinary share of RM1. The intended principal activity of MBSB is to carry out 
business of an investment company.

 (ii) Subscription for additional interests in a subsidiary

  2022

  FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd.
  On 30 June 2022, the Company had subscribed an additional 40,000,000 ordinary shares at the price of 

RM1.00 each in the share capital of a subsidiary, FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd. by way of capitalising the 
amount owing to the Company of RM40,000,000.
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14. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

 Group  Company
 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Unquoted shares, at cost

At beginning of the financial year/period  400,000  400,000  400,000  400,000 

Derecognition of an associate  (400,000)  -  (400,000)  - 

At end of the financial year/period  -  400,000  -  400,000 

Less: Share of post-acquisition result

At beginning of the financial year/period  (400,000)  (400,000)  -  - 

Derecognition of an associate  400,000  -  -  - 

At end of the financial year/period  -  (400,000)  -  - 

Less: Impairment losses

At beginning of the financial year/period  -  -  (400,000)  (400,000)

Derecognition of an associate  -  -  400,000  - 

At end of the financial year/period  -  -  -  (400,000)

 -  -  -  - 

 Details of the associate which is incorporated in Malaysia, is as follows:

Name of Company Effective Equity Interest Principal activities
 2022  2021 

% %

P.A. Projects Sdn. Bhd. # - 20 Design, supply, fabricating and installation of aluminium 
products

 # Audited by an auditor other than Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng PLT.

 The investment in the associate has been fully impaired in the previous financial years.

 In previous financial period, the Group’s share of accumulated losses in the associate is restricted to the Group’s 
cost of investment in the associate. Accordingly, the Group has excluded its previous period’s share of profit of the 
associate amounting to RM131,513 from its financial statements.

 As at the end of previous financial period, the cumulative unrecognised share of losses of the associate is 
RM3,957,728.
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14. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE  (cont’d)

 (a) Summarised financial information of material associate in the previous financial period

  The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s material associate in the 
previous financial period:

 Group 
 2021 

 RM 

Assets and liabilities
Current assets  316,259 
Non-current assets  5 
Current liabilities  (19,447,948)

Net liabilities  (19,131,684)

Results:
Total comprehensive income  657,565 

 (b) Derecognition of investment in P.A. Projects Sdn. Bhd.

  On 30 April 2022, the Company ceased to have significant influence over the investment in P.A. Projects Sdn. 
Bhd. resulted from the dilution of its interests in the investment. Consequently, the Company recognised its 
remaining 2% interests in P.A. Projects Sdn. Bhd. as other investment at fair value of RM1,775.

15. OTHER INVESTMENTS

 Group and Company
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVOCI”)

At fair value: 
- Quoted equity securities

International Equities Corporation Ltd. 

At beginning of the financial year/period  1,674,911  1,537,818 

Fair value (loss)/gain on equity instruments designated at fair value through 
other comprehensive income  (47,751)  137,093 

At end of the financial year/period  1,627,160  1,674,911 

- Unquoted equity securities

P.A Project Sdn. Bhd.  1,775  -   

 1,628,935  1,674,911 

 The Group and the Company hold non-controlling interests in equity securities designated at fair value through 
other comprehensive income. This investment was irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive 
income as the Group and the Company consider this investment as strategic long-term investment and the volatility 
of market prices of these investments would not affect profit or loss.
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16. INVENTORIES

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At Net Realisable Value
Property under development

- Leasehold land at cost 317,351  317,351 

- Development costs 9,531,012  9,564,012 

 9,848,363  9,881,363 

Leasehold land  7,000,000  7,000,000 

Completed properties  880,012  880,012 

 17,728,375  17,761,375 

At Cost
Property under development

- Leasehold land at cost  34,004,176  -   

- Development costs  735,114  -   

 34,739,290  -   

Completed properties  9,703,843  9,703,843 

Food and beverages  190,147  177,849 

 44,633,280  9,881,692 

 62,361,655  27,643,067 

 The cost of inventories of the Group recognised as an expense during the financial year/period was RM3,058,118 
(2021: RM48,951,671).

 In previous financial period, the Group has transferred its costs of property under development to leasehold land as 
follows:

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Carrying amount:
At beginning of the financial year/period  7,000,000  - 

Transfer from property under development costs  -  50,790,998 

Written down  -  (43,790,998)

At end of the financial year/period  7,000,000  7,000,000 
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16. INVENTORIES  (cont’d)

 The cost of inventories of the Group recognised as an expense in cost of in previous financial period are as follows:

 Group 
 2021 

 RM 

Inventories written down  (43,877,604)

Inventories written off  (7,114)

 (43,884,718)

17. FINANCING RECEIVABLES 

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Non-current:
Financing receivables  16,215  4,412 

Less: Unearned interest  (975)  (250)

 15,240  4,162 

Current:

Financing receivables  16,648,898  16,631,083 

Less: Unearned interest  (592,326)  (590,441)

 16,056,572  16,040,642 

Less: Impairment losses  (16,016,984)  (16,035,638)

 39,588  5,004 

Total financing receivables (non-current and current)  54,828  9,166 

 The movement in the impairment losses of financing receivables is as follows:

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At beginning of the financial year/period  (16,035,638)  (16,035,638)

Reversal of impairment losses  18,654  - 

At end of the financial year/period  (16,016,984)  (16,035,638)
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18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 Group  Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note RM RM RM RM

Trade receivables (a)  3,340,793  2,301,765  -  - 

Less: Impairment losses  (1,173,732)  (851,258)  -  - 

 2,167,061  1,450,507  -  - 

Amounts owing by subsidiaries (c)  -  -  62,154,637  47,818,403 

Less: Impairment losses  -  -  (15,768,176)  (47,818,403)

 -  -  46,386,461  - 

Other receivables (b)  4,692,177  4,749,816  -  99 

Less: Impairment losses  (4,584,459)  (4,584,459)  -  - 

 107,718  165,357  -  99 

Deposits (d)  1,528,848  175,247  2,580  1,780 

Prepayments (e)  119,841  209,818  44,484  39,247 

GST claimable  2,469  2,469  -  - 

Total trade and other receivables  3,925,937  2,003,398  46,433,525  41,126 

 (a) Trade receivables 

  The trade credit terms granted to the customers ranging from 7 to 90 days (2021: 7 to 90 days). Other 
credit terms are assessed and approved on a case by case basis. They are recognised at their original invoice 
amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

  Receivables that are impaired

  The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the reconciliation of movement in 
the impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At beginning of the financial year/period  (851,258)  (857,877)

Charge for the financial year/period

- Individually assessed  (325,298)  - 

Reversal of impairment losses  2,824  6,619 

At end of the financial year/period  (1,173,732)  (851,258)

  The information about the credit exposures are disclose in Note 29(b)(i).



ANNUAL REPORT
2022 127

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  (cont’d)

 (b) Other receivables

  Included in the other receivables is an amount of RM1,600,000 (2021: RM1,600,000) owing by a single 
debtor which represents the total consideration for the disposal of plant and machinery. An allowance for 
impairment loss of RM1,600,000 (2021: RM1,600,000) has been made for this receivable.

  The Group’s other receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the reconciliation of movement in 
the impairment of other receivables are as follows:

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At beginning of the financial year/period  (4,584,459)  (4,605,276)

Reversal of impairment losses  -  20,817 

At end of the financial year/period  (4,584,459)  (4,584,459)

 (c) Amounts owing by subsidiaries

  Amounts owing by subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand in 
cash.

  The amounts owing by subsidiaries that are impaired at the reporting date and the reconciliation of movement 
in the impairment of amounts owing by subsidiaries are as follows:

 Company 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At beginning of the financial year/period  (47,818,403)  (47,080,790)

Charge for the financial year/period

- Individually assessed  (91,551)  (737,613)

Reversal of impairment losses  32,079,766  - 

Written off  62,012  - 

At end of the financial year/period  (15,768,176)  (47,818,403)

 (d) Deposits

  Included in deposit of the Group is an amount of RM1,227,788 (2021: RM Nil) refundable deposit paid by a 
subsidiary to the contractor for the development of solar photovoltaic generation facilities at customers’ site.

 (e) Prepayments

  In previous financial period, included in prepayments of the Group was a down payments made to suppliers of 
RM103,200 for the purchase of plant and equipment.
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

 Group
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Contract assets relating to property development contracts  2,335,034  - 

Contract liabilities relating to property development contracts  (25,124,355)  (3,004,381)

 (a) Significant changes in contract balances

 2022  2021
 Contract 

 assets 
 increase/ 
 (decrease) 

 Contract 
 liabilities 

 (increase)/ 
 decrease 

 Contract 
 assets 

 increase/ 
 (decrease) 

 Contract 
 liabilities 

 (increase)/ 
 decrease 

Group  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Revenue recognised that was included in 
contract liabilities at the beginning of the 
financial year/period  -  -  -  3,812,954 

Increases due to consideration received/ 
receivable from customers, but revenue 
not recognised  -  (22,119,974)  -  (2,837,900)

Increase due to cost incurred, but yet to 
recognised  2,335,034  -  -  - 

 2,335,034  (22,119,974)  -  975,054 

 (b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract balances

 Group
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning 
of the financial year  -  3,812,954 

  Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of the year 
represented primarily revenue from the sale of property development contracts when percentage of 
completion increases.
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20. DEPOSITS PLACED WITH LICENSED BANKS

 Included in the deposits placed with licensed banks of the Group, are deposits pledged to the financial institutions 
for banking facilities granted to a subsidiary as follows:

 (i) Amounts of RM620,668 (2021: RM617,633) which earn interest at rates of 1.75% (2021: 1.75%) per annum.

 (ii) Amounts of RM3,762,310 (2021: RM3,693,081) marginal deposits as disclosed in Notes 24(a) and 24(c) 
respectively.

 (iii) Amounts of RM140,000 (2021: RM Nil) are held under lien for bank guarantee facilities in favour of Tenaga 
Nasional Berhad.

21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

 Group  Company
 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Cash and bank balances  26,815,569  1,865,740  4,064,924  400,717 

Cash held under Housing Development Account  249,590  248,068  -  - 

 27,065,159  2,113,808  4,064,924  400,717 

 The housing development accounts which held pursuant to Section 7A of the Housing Development (Control and 
Licensing) Act 1966 comprise monies received from purchasers, are for the payment of property development 
expenditure incurred and are restricted from use in other operations.

22. SHARE CAPITAL

 Group and Company 
 Number of 
 ordinary shares   Amounts 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 
 Unit  Unit  RM  RM 

Issued and fully paid (no par value):
At beginning of the financial year/period  356,709,727  324,281,570  133,877,051  129,878,659 

Issued during the financial year/period  1,209,098,043  32,428,157  47,790,680  3,998,392 

At end of the financial year/period  1,565,807,770  356,709,727  181,667,731  133,877,051 

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to 
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s 
residual assets.
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22. SHARE CAPITAL  (cont’d)

 During the financial year, the Company:

 (i) issued 64,856,312 new ordinary shares at an issue price of RM0.1059 per ordinary share through private 
placement for a total consideration of RM6,868,283; and

 (ii) issued renounceable rights issue of 1,144,241,731 new ordinary shares on the basis of 19 Rights Shares for 
every 7 existing shares at an issue price of RM0.07 each, together with 782,901,982 free detachable warrants 
on the basis of 13 warrants for every 19 rights shares subscribed for.

 In the previous financial period, the Company issued 32,428,157 new ordinary shares at a price of RM0.1233 per 
ordinary share pursuant to private placement.

 The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company.

23. OTHER RESERVES 

 Group  Company
 2022 2021  2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Capital reserve (a)  110,238,037  110,238,037  110,238,037  110,238,037 

Revaluation reserve (b)  540,183  -    -    -   

Fair value reserve of financial 
assets at FVOCI (c)  1,167,250  1,215,001  1,167,250  1,215,001 

Warrant reserve (d)  37,970,746  -    37,970,746  -   

 149,916,216  111,453,038  149,376,033  111,453,038 

 (a) Capital reserve 

  Capital reserve arose from the par value reduction exercise undertaken by the Company in year 2009. 
It represents surplus arising after the off-setting of the Company’s issued and paid up capital against its 
accumulated losses at the date when the reduction of share capital became effective.

  The capital reduction reserve is a non-distributable reserve.

 (b) Revaluation reserve

  The revaluation reserve represents the surplus arising from revaluation of freehold land and building. This 
amount is presented net of deferred tax liability arising from revaluation reserve.

 (c) Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVOCI 

  This reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) until the investments are derecognised or impaired. 



ANNUAL REPORT
2022 131

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

23. OTHER RESERVES  (cont’d)

 (d) Warrant reserve 

  The warrants were constituted under the Deed Poll dated 3 January 2022.

  The salient features of the Warrants 2022/2032 are as follows:

  (i) Each warrant shall entitle the registered holder of the warrants to subscribe for one (1) new share at any 
time during the exercise period at the exercise price of RM0.085 subject to adjustments in accordance 
with the provisions of the Deed Poll;

  (ii) The close of business on the warrants is ten (10) years from and including the date of issuance of the 
warrants and ending on the date preceding the 10th anniversary at the date of issuance, or if such is not 
a market day, then it shall be the market day immediately preceding the said non-market day;

  (iii) The warrants may be exercised at any time on or before the expiry date falling Ten (10) years 
(2022/2032) from the date of issue of the warrants on 18 February 2022. Warrants which have not 
been exercised by the Maturity Date will lapse and cease to be valid for any purpose;

  (iv) The warrants shall as between the warrant holders rank pari passu and rateably in all aspects amongst 
themselves;

  (v) The new shares to be issued arising from the exercise of the exercise rights represented by the warrants, 
shall upon allotment and issuance rank equally in all respects with the existing ordinary shares, save and 
except that the new shares shall not be entitled to any dividends, rights, allotments and/or any other 
forms of distribution that may be declared, made or paid for which the entitlement date precedes the 
date of allotment and issuance of such new shares;

  (vi) The holders of the warrants are not entitled to any voting rights or to participate in any form of 
distribution and/or offer of further securities in the Company other than winding up, compromise or 
arrangement of the Company as set out in the Deed Poll governing the warrants until and unless such 
holders of the warrants exercise their warrants into new shares; and

  (vii) The warrants are quoted on the Main Market of Bursa Securities on 18 February 2022. The number of 
warrants remained unexercised at the end of the financial year are as follows:

 2022/2032
 Number of warrants of RM0.085 each

 1.7.2021  Issued  Exercised  30.6.2022 
 Unit  Unit  Unit  Unit 

Number of unexercised warrants  -    782,901,982  -    782,901,982 

  The fair value of warrants is measured using the binomial option pricing model with the following inputs:

Fair value of warrants and assumptions
Fair value at grant date (RM)  0.0485 

Warrant life (years)  10 

Risk-free rate (%)  3.66 

Expected dividend (%)  - 

Expected volatility (%)  47.13 
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24. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

 Group 
 2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM 

Current:
Bank overdrafts (a)  648,598  7,754,644 

Lease liabilities (b)  90,858  256,242 

Term loans (c)  1,692,745  1,956,056 

 2,432,201  9,966,942 

Non-current:
Lease liabilities (b)  94,073  12,733 

Term loans (c)  19,988,010  46,522,807 

 20,082,083  46,535,540 

Total loans and borrowings:
Bank overdrafts (a)  648,598  7,754,644 

Lease liabilities (b)  184,931  268,975 

Term loans (c)  21,680,755  48,478,863 

 22,514,284  56,502,482 

 (a) Bank overdrafts 

  Bank overdrafts bear profit rate ranging from 6.72% (2021: 6.47%) per annum. 

  The bank overdrafts of the Group are secured by way of:

  (i) First party first legal charge over a subsidiary’s property as disclosed in Note 11;
  (ii) First party second legal charge over the freehold land and building as disclosed in Note 11;
  (iii) Marginal deposit as disclosed in Note 20; and
  (iv) Corporate guarantee of the Company.
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24. LOANS AND BORROWINGS  (cont’d)

 (b) Lease liabilities 

  The interest rate implicit in the leases is at a rate of 8.00% (2021: 8.00%).

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Minimum lease payments:

Not later than one year  100,700  264,360 

Later than one year and not later than five years  99,000  12,800 

 199,700  277,160 

Less: Future finance charges  (14,769)  (8,185)

Present value of minimum lease payments  184,931  268,975 

Present value of minimum lease payments:

Not later than one year  90,858  256,242 

Later than one year and not later than five years  94,073  12,733 

 184,931  268,975 

Less: Amount due within 12 months  (90,858)  (256,242)

Amount due after 12 months  94,073  12,733 

 (c) Term loans 

  In previous financial period, the term loans 1 and 2 of a subsidiary of RM91,187 and RM11,546,760 
respectively were Islamic term loans which bore profit rate of 6.47% each per annum. Term loan 1 was 
repayable by monthly instalments of RM8,000 and term loan 2 was repayable by monthly instalments of 
RM70,000 and were secured and supported as follows:

  (i) First party first legal charge over the freehold land and building of a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 11; and
  (ii) Corporate guarantee of the Company.

  In previous financial period, the term loan 3 of a subsidiary of RM16,852,906 was Islamic term loan which bores 
profit rate of 6.47% per annum. It was repayable by monthly instalments of RM93,000 and was secured as follows:

  (i) First party second legal charge over the freehold land and building of a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 
11;

  (ii) Marginal deposit as disclosed in Note 20; and
  (iii) Corporate guarantee of the Company.

  Term loan 4 of a subsidiary of RM21,680,755 (2021: RM19,988,010) is Islamic term loan which bears profit 
rate of 7.22% (2021: 6.97%) per annum. It is repayable by monthly instalments of RM39,227 and is secured as 
follows:

  (i) First party second legal charge over the freehold land and building of a subsidiary as disclosed in Note 
11;

  (ii) Marginal deposit as disclosed in Note 20; and
  (iii) Corporate guarantee of the Company.
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

At beginning of the financial year/period  4,048,734  11,015,824 

Recognised in profit or loss during the financial year/period (Note 9)  1,822,869  (6,913,742)

Deferred tax relating to revaluation reserve  28,431  (53,348)

At end of the financial year/period  5,900,034  4,048,734 

 The component of deferred tax liabilities as at the end of the financial year are as follows:

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Deferred tax liabilities
Temporary differences between net carrying amount and corresponding tax written 

down values in relation to property, plant and equipment  5,871,603  4,048,734 

Surplus arising from revaluation of freehold land  28,431  - 

 5,900,034  4,048,734 

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Group  Company
 2022  2021  2022  2021 

Note  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Non-current:
Trade payable (a)  2,800,009  -  -  - 

Current:
Trade payables (b)  13,761,420  9,737,628  -  - 

Other payables (c)  3,394,678  4,729,903  428,065  1,031,038 

Accruals (d)  3,948,827  5,853,954  612,265  53,270 

Amounts owing to subsidiaries (e)  -  -  16,768  14,778,595 

Amounts owing to directors (f)  239,202  12,540,000  -  8,540,000 

Deposits received  2,890,276  2,237,249  -  - 

Total trade and other payables (current)  24,234,403  35,098,734  1,057,098  24,402,903 

Total trade and other payables  
(non-current and current)  27,034,412  35,098,734  1,057,098  24,402,903 
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  (cont’d)

 (a) Long-term trade payable is measured at amortised cost at imputed interest rate at 2.75% per annum.

 (b) Trade payables

  The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group ranging from 30 to 60 days (2021: 30 to 60 days).

 (c) Other payables

  In previous financial period, included in other payables was an amount owing a former director of RM800,000 
which was non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable upon demand, as and when the 
amount and timing of repayment will not adversely affect the cash flows of the Group and of the Company to 
meet their obligations as and when they fall due.

 (d) Accruals

  Included in the accruals of the Group is an amount of RM1,942,836 (2021: RM1,942,836) in respect of 
anticipated loss arising from late deliveries of completed property development projects to the buyers.

 (e) Amounts owing to subsidiaries

  Amounts owing to subsidiaries are non-trade in nature, unsecured and bear interest at a rate of 6.97% (2021: 
6.47%) per annum.

 (f) Amounts owing to directors

  Amounts owing to directors of RM239,202 (2021: RM12,540,000) are non-trade in nature, unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable upon demand, as and when the amount and timing of repayment will not 
adversely affect the cash flows of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they 
fall due.

 (g) For explanations on the Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk management processes, refer to Note 29(b)(ii).

27. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

 Provision for 
 strata-title 
 application 

 costs 
 RM 

Group
At beginning/end of the financial year/period  1,812,000 

 Provision for strata-title application costs

 This was in respect of an strata-title application costs for a project of a subsidiary which had been completed in 
prior years.
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28. RELATED PARTIES

 (a) Identity of related parties

  Parties are considered to be related to the Group and the Company if the Group and the Company have the 
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 
financial and operational decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the Company and the party are 
subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

  Related parties of the Group include:

  (i) Entities having significant influence over the Group;
  (ii) Subsidiaries as disclosed in Note 13;
  (iii) Associate as disclosed in Note 14; 
  (iv) Entities in which directors have substantial financial interests; and
  (v) Key management personnel of the Group’s and the Company’s holding company, comprise persons 

(including directors) having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities directly or indirectly.

 (b) Significant related party transactions

  Significant related party transactions other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements are as follows:

 Group 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Entities in which a director has substantial financial interests
Talam Mesra Sdn. Bhd.
Rental paid/payable  72,000  108,000 

Inland World Sdn. Bhd.
Development rights paid/payable  8,000,000  -   

 Company 
 2022  2021 

 RM  RM 

Subsidiaries
Eastern Biscuit Factory Sdn. Bhd.
Management fee  400,000  709,989 

FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd.
Management fee  400,000  -   

Exquisite Properties Sdn. Bhd.
Write-back of payable  9,282  -   

FBO Properties Sdn. Bhd.
Bad debts written off  (8,459)  -   
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28. RELATED PARTIES  (cont’d)

 (b) Significant related party transactions  (cont’d)

  Significant outstanding balances with related parties at the end of the reporting period are as disclosed in 
Notes 18 and 26.

  The Company provides secured corporate guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to a 
subsidiary as disclosed in Note 31.

 (c) Key management personnel compensation

 Group  Company
 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Executive Directors

Salaries and allowances  1,278,248  1,842,700  1,114,633  1,577,700 

Other emoluments  153,212  217,887  137,499  194,973 

 1,431,460  2,060,587  1,252,132  1,772,673 

Non-Executive Directors

Allowances  32,400  33,000  32,400  33,000 

Fees  216,000  266,967  216,000  266,967 

Total directors’ remuneration  1,679,860  2,360,554  1,500,532  2,072,640 

 Group  Company
 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Key management personnel 

- Salaries and allowances  357,000  288,000  357,000  288,000 

- Defined contribution  42,840  34,560  42,840  34,560 

- Socso contribution  1,771  1,385  1,771  1,385 

 401,611  323,945  401,611  323,945 

  The estimated monetary values of directors’ and key management personnel benefit-in-kind are RM8,800 and 
RM9,900 respectively (2021: RM8,800 and RM9,900 respectively).
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 (a) Categories of financial instruments

  The following table analyses the financial instruments in the statements of financial position by the classes of 
financial instruments to which they are assigned:

  (i) Amortised cost
  (ii) Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

 Carrying 
 amount 

 Amortised 
 cost  FVOCI 

 RM  RM  RM 

2022
Financial assets
Group
Other investments  1,628,935  -  1,628,935 

Financing receivables  54,828  54,828  - 

Trade and other receivables (exclude prepayments and GST 
claimable)  3,803,627  3,803,627  - 

Deposits placed with licensed banks  5,173,296  5,173,296  - 

Cash and bank balances  27,065,159  27,065,159  - 

 37,725,845  36,096,910  1,628,935 

Company
Other investments  1,628,935  -  1,628,935 

Trade and other receivables (exclude prepayments)  46,389,041  46,389,041  - 

Cash and bank balances  4,064,924  4,064,924  - 

 52,082,900  50,453,965  1,628,935 

Financial liabilities
Group
Trade and other payables  27,034,412  27,034,412  - 

Loans and borrowings  22,514,284  22,514,284  - 

 49,548,696  49,548,696  - 

Company
Trade and other payables  1,057,098  1,057,098  - 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (a) Categories of financial instruments  (cont’d)

  The following table analyses the financial instruments in the statements of financial position by the classes of 
financial instruments to which they are assigned:  (cont’d)

 Carrying 
 amount 

 Amortised 
 cost  FVOCI 

 RM  RM  RM 

2021
Financial assets
Group
Other investments  1,674,911  -  1,674,911 

Financing receivables  9,166  9,166  - 

Trade and other receivables (exclude prepayments and GST 
claimable)  1,791,111  1,791,111  - 

Deposits placed with licensed banks  4,310,714  4,310,714  - 

Cash and bank balances  2,113,808  2,113,808  - 

 9,899,710  8,224,799  1,674,911 

Company
Other investments  1,674,911  -  1,674,911 

Trade and other receivables (exclude prepayments)  1,879  1,879  - 

Cash and bank balances  400,717  400,717  - 

 2,077,507  402,596  1,674,911 

Financial liabilities
Group
Trade and other payables  35,098,734  35,098,734  - 

Loans and borrowings  56,502,482  56,502,482  - 

 91,601,216  91,601,216  - 

Company
Trade and other payables  24,402,903  24,402,903  - 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management 

  The Group’s and the Company’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks arising from their 
operations and the use of financial instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, 
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and market price risk. The Group and the Company have formulated a 
financial risk management framework whose principal objective is to minimise the Group’s and the Company’s 
exposure to risk and/or costs associated with the financing, investing and operating activities of the Group 
and of the Company. 

  The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-
mentioned financial risk and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 

  (i) Credit risk 

   Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group and the Company that may arise on outstanding 
financial instruments should a counterparty default on its obligations. The Group and the Company 
are exposed to credit risk from their operating activities (primarily trade receivables) and from their 
financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial 
instruments. The Group and the Company have a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is 
managed through the application of credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures. 

   Trade receivables and contract assets

   As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade 
receivables and contract assets is represented by the carrying amounts in the statements of financial 
position. 

   The carrying amount of trade receivables and contracts assets are not secured by any collateral or 
supported by any other credit enhancements. In determining the recoverability of these receivables, 
the Group and the Company consider any change in the credit quality of the receivables from the date 
the credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The Group and the Company have adopted a 
policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from 
defaults. 

   The Group and the Company apply the simplified approach to providing for impairment losses 
prescribed by MFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which permits the use of the lifetime expected credit 
losses provision for all trade receivables and contracts assets. To measure the impairment losses, trade 
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The 
impairment losses also incorporate forward looking information. 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management  (cont’d)

  (i) Credit risk  (cont’d)

   Trade receivables and contract assets  (cont’d)

   The information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s and Company’s trade receivables and 
contracts assets are as follows:

 Gross carrying 
 amount at 

 default 
Group RM

 
2022
Contract assets  2,335,034 

Trade receivables

Current  1,330,012 

1-30 days past due  258,802 

31-60 days past due  220,015 

61-90 days past due  76,812 

91-120 days past due  61,147 

>121 days past due  220,273 

 2,167,061 

Impairment losses

- Individually assessed  1,173,732 

 3,340,793 

 5,675,827 

2021
Trade receivables

Current  656,724 

1-30 days past due  290,100 

31-60 days past due  176,090 

61-90 days past due  77,069 

91-120 days past due  47,872 

>121 days past due  202,652 

 1,450,507 

Impairment losses

- Individually assessed  851,258 

 2,301,765 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management  (cont’d)

  (i) Credit risk  (cont’d)

   Other receivables and other financial assets 

   For other receivables and other financial assets (including investment securities, deposits placed with 
licensed banks, and cash and bank balances), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing 
exclusively with high credit rating counterparties. At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk arising from other receivables and other financial assets is represented by 
the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial position. 

   The Group and the Company consider the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each 
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Group and the 
Company compare the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of 
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. 

   Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more than 
30 days past due in making a contractual payment. 

   Some intercompany loans between entities within the Group are repayable on demand. For loans that 
are repayable on demand, expected credit losses are assessed based on the assumption that repayment 
of the loan is demanded at the reporting date. If the borrower does not have sufficient highly liquid 
resources when the loan is demanded, the Group and the Company will consider the expected manner 
of recovery and recovery period of the intercompany loan.

   Other than the credit-impaired amounts owing by subsidiaries and other receivables, the Group and the 
Company consider these financial assets to be of low credit risk, for which no material loss allowance is 
required.

   Refer to Note 3.14(a) for the Group’s and the Company’s other accounting policies for impairment of 
financial assets. 

   Financial guarantee contracts 

   The Company is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantees given to banks in respect of 
loans granted to a subsidiary. The Company monitors the results of the subsidiary and its repayments 
on an on-going basis. The maximum exposure to credit risks amounts to RM22,329,353 (2021: 
RM56,233,507) representing the maximum amount the Company could pay if the guarantee is called on 
as disclosed in Note 29(b)(ii). As at the reporting date, there was no loss allowance for expected credit 
losses as determined by the Company for the financial guarantee. 

   The financial guarantees have not been recognised since the fair value on initial recognition was not 
material as the guarantee is provided as credit enhancement to a subsidiary’s secured borrowings. 

  (ii) Liquidity risk 

   Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations when they fall due. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arise primarily 
from differences of the maturities between financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s 
exposure to liquidity risk arise principally from trade and other payables, loans and borrowings. 

   The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities deemed adequate by the 
management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when 
they fall due.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management  (cont’d)

  (ii) Liquidity risk  (cont’d)

   Maturity analysis

   The maturity analysis of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities by their relevant maturity at 
the reporting date are based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations are as follows: 

  Contractual cash flows 
 Carrying 

amount 
 Within 
 1 Year 

 1 - 5 
Years > 5 Years  Total 

 RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

2022
Group
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  27,034,412  24,281,932  3,024,132  -  27,306,064 

Loans and borrowings  22,514,284  2,031,565  11,921,000  16,574,887  30,527,452 

   49,548,696  26,313,497  14,945,132  16,574,887  57,833,516 

Company
Trade and other payables  1,057,098  1,057,098  -  -  1,057,098 

Financial guarantee contract  -  22,329,353  -  -  22,329,353 

 1,057,098  23,386,451  -  -  23,386,451 

2021
Group
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables  35,098,734  35,098,734  -  -  35,098,734 

Loans and borrowings  56,502,482  12,284,871  27,596,800  37,879,740  77,761,411 

 91,601,216  47,383,605  27,596,800  37,879,740  112,860,145 

Company
Trade and other payables  24,402,903  24,402,903  -  -  24,402,903 

Financial guarantee contract  -  56,233,507  -  -  56,233,507 

 24,402,903  80,636,410  -  -  80,636,410 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management  (cont’d)

  (iii) Foreign currency risk

   Foreign currency risk is the risk of fluctuation in fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to the risk of 
changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Group’s and the Company’s other investment.

   The Group’s and the Company’s financial assets that are not denominated in their functional currencies 
are as follows: 

 Group and Company 
 Functional currencies 

 RM 

2022
Other investment
Australian Dollar  1,627,160 

2021
Other investment
Australian Dollar  1,674,911 

   The Group’s and the Company’s principal foreign currency exposure relates mainly to Australian Dollar 
(“AUD”). 

   The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the AUD, with all 
other variables held constant on the Group’s and the Company’s total equity and profit/(loss) for the 
financial year. 

 Change 
 in rate 

 Effect on
 profit/(loss) 

for the 
 financial 

year/period 
 Effect on 

 equity 
 RM  RM 

2022
- AUD 10%  -  162,716 

-10%  -  (162,716)

2021
- AUD 10%  -  167,491 

-10%  -  (167,491)
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management  (cont’d)

  (iv) Interest rate risk

   Interest rate risk is the risk of fluctuation in fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial instruments as a result of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the 
Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from their long-term loans and borrowings with 
floating interest rates. 

   Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

   The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with 
all other variables held constant on the Group’s and the Company’s total equity and profit/(loss) for the 
financial year. 

 Change 
 in rate 

 Effect on 
profit/(loss) 

for the 
 financial 

 year/period 
 Effect on 

 equity 
 RM  RM 

Group
2022  +1%  (169,703)  (169,703)

 - 1%  169,703  169,703 

2021  +1%  427,375  427,375 
 - 1%  (427,375)  (427,375)

  (v) Market price risk 

   Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates).

   The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity instruments. The 
quoted equity instruments outside Malaysia are listed on Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) in Australia. 

   Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk

   The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in ASX, with all other 
variables held constant on the Group’s and the Company’s total equity and profit/(loss) for the financial 
year. 

 Change 
 in rate 

 Effect on 
profit/(loss)

for the 
 financial 

 year/period 
 Effect on 

 equity 
 RM  RM 

Group
2022  +1%  -  16,272 

 - 1%  -  (16,272)

2021  +1%  -  16,749 
 - 1%  -  (16,749)
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  (cont’d)

 (c) Fair value measurement

  The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, deposits placed with licensed banks, short-term receivables 
and payables and short-term borrowings reasonably approximate to their fair values due to the relatively 
short-term nature of these financial instruments. 

  The carrying amounts of long-term floating rate term loans are reasonable approximation of fair values as the 
loans will be re-priced to market interest rate on or near reporting date. 

  There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial year (2021: no transfer in 
either directions). 

 Carrying 
 amount 

 Total 

 Fair value of financial instruments
   carried at fair value 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
 RM  RM  RM  RM  RM 

Group and Company
2022
Financial asset
Other investments  1,628,935  1,627,160  -  1,775  1,628,935 

2021
Financial asset
Other investments  1,674,911  1,674,911  -  -  1,674,911 

  Level 3 fair value 

  Fair value of financial instruments carried at fair value 

  The management is of the view that the cost represents the appropriate estimate of fair value due to the 
insufficiency of the availability of the more recent information to measure fair value as well as the wide range 
of possible fair value measurements.

30. COMMITMENTS

 The Group has made commitments for the following capital expenditures:

 2022  2021 
 RM  RM 

Property, plant and equipment approved and contracted for 2,680,957  928,800 

Property, plant and equipment approved but not contracted for 340,596 -

3,021,553 928,800
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(cont’d)

31. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

 2022  2021 
 RM  RM 

Corporate guarantee to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to a 
subsidiary  22,329,353  56,233,507 

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

 The primary objective of the Group’s and the Company’s capital management is to ensure that they maintain a 
strong capital base and safeguard the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so as to 
maintain investors, creditors and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The Group 
and the Company manage their capital structure by monitoring the capital and net debt on an on-going basis. To 
maintain the capital structure, the Group and the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders.

 There were no changes in the Group’s and the Company’s approach to capital management during the financial 
year.

 The Group and the Company monitor using gearing ratio. The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts divided by 
total equity. The gearing ratio at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 are as follows:

 Group  Company
 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Trade and other payables  27,034,412  35,098,734  1,057,098  24,402,903 

Loans and borrowings  22,514,284  56,502,482  -  - 

Total debts  49,548,696  91,601,216  1,057,098  24,402,903 

Total equity  161,581,184  71,252,814 154,922,085  73,620,649 

Debts-to-equity ratio 31% 129% 1% 33%
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33. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

 (a) On 18 August 2020, the Group announced that its wholly-owned subsidiary, FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd. 
(“FBO”) had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement (“CSPA”) with Inland World Sdn. Bhd. 
(“IWSB”). The CSPA lays out the agreement for FBO to purchase all rights, title, benefits, interests, covenants, 
undertakings, duties, liabilities and obligations of IWSB under the Joint Venture Agreement (as defined herein) 
which are to be transferred to and/or assumed by FBO pursuant to the CSPA, for a purchase consideration of 
RM8.0 million. 

  For information, IWSB had on 18 September 2018 enter into a joint venture agreement with Sabah Urban 
Development Corporation Sdn. Bhd. (“SUDC”) (“Joint Venture Agreement”) to collaborate in the development 
of a 14,059.82 square feet land, situated in Damai, in the district of Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, which is managed 
by SUDC on behalf of Perbadanan Pembangunan Ekonomi Sabah (the registered owner of the land) 
(“SEDCO”). In the Joint Venture Agreement, IWSB will develop, construct and manage a building consisting of, 
inter alia a 16-storey building with 2-storey shoplot, 5-storey carpark, 1-storey private facilities and 8-storey 
commercial units (“Project”) on the said piece of land. 

  IWSB had on 28 October 2020, 2 February 2021 and 5 May 2021 issued a written request to FBO to request 
for an extension of time until 15 February 2021, 16 May 2021 and 16 November respectively to obtain/fulfil 
the conditions precedent of the CSPA. 

  On 21 October 2021, the CSPA is deemed completed and had become unconditional and that the parties to 
the CSPA have agreed to vary the payment obligations in the CSPA in that the obligation of the Purchaser to 
pay the Purchase Consideration be extended to on or before 31 March 2022.

 (b) On 12 August 2021, the Company increased its issued and paid up ordinary share capital from 
RM133,877,051 to RM140,745,334 by way of issuance of 64,856,312 new ordinary shares at a price of 
RM0.1059 each through private placement.

 (c) On 14 February 2022, the Company increased its issued and paid-up ordinary share capital from 
RM140,745,334 to RM181,667,731 by way of Rights Issue of 1,144,241,731 new ordinary shares on 
the basis of 19 Rights Shares for every 7 existing shares at an issue price of RM0.07 each, together with 
782,901,982 free detachable Warrants on the basis of 13 Warrants for every 19 Rights Shares subscribed for.

 (d) On 8 March 2022, the Company had acquired a new subsidiary, Meta Bright Sdn. Bhd. (“MBSB”) with an 
issued and paid-up capital of 1 ordinary share of RM1. The intended principal activity of MBSB is to carry out 
business of an investment company.
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33. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  (cont’d)

 (e) On 18 March 2022, the Group proposes to undertake the following:

  (i) FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) had entered into a 
conditional sale and purchase agreement (“CSPA”) with the Company, Top Land Resources Sdn. Bhd., 
Mentiga Development & Construction Sdn. Bhd. and Leading Ventures Sdn. Bhd. (“LV”), to acquire 92 
commercial units comprising the ground and first floor within 46 stratified 2-storey shop/offices within 
Bandar Tun Razak Business Park, 26400 Bandar Tun Abdul Razak Jengka, Maran, Pahang Darul Makmur 
(“Properties”), for a total purchase consideration of RM24,800,000 (“Purchase Consideration”) which will 
be satisfied via the issuance of 381,538,461 new ordinary shares in the Company at an issue price of 
RM0.065 each, subject to the terms and conditions of the CSPA.

   All the conditions precedent have been fulfilled on 15 July 2022 in accordance to the terms and 
conditions of the CSPA and the CSPA has become unconditional.

   The acquisition had been completed on 8 August 2022 following the issuance and allotment of 
RM381,538,461 consideration shares to security stakeholder and LV in accordance to the CSPA.

  (ii) Proposed capital reduction exercise comprising the proposed reduction from the capital reserve account 
of the Company and proposed reduction in the share capital of the Company, pursuant to Section 116 
of the Companies Act, 2016 to reduce the share capital of the Company.

   On 22 September 2022, the Company announced that the High Court of Malaya had granted the order 
confirming the proposed capital reduction. Accordingly, the proposed capital reduction has been lodged 
to Companies Commission of Malaysia on 30 September 2022 and taken effect and deemed completed 
on 30 September 2022.  

  (iii) Proposed diversification of the existing principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries to include 
renewable energy and energy efficiency related technology and businesses.

 (f) On 30 June 2022, the Company had subscribed an additional 40,000,000 ordinary shares at the price of 
RM1.00 each in the share capital of a subsidiary, FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd. by way of capitalising the 
amount owing to the Company of RM40,000,000.

 (g) On 30 June 2022, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, FBO Properties Sdn. Bhd. had applied for  
struck-off from the Register of Companies under Section 550 of Companies Act 2016.

 (h) On 13 July 2022, the Group had entered into the following agreements:

  (i) FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd. (“FBO Land”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) had entered 
into a leasing agreement whereby Top Land Resources Sdn. Bhd. agrees to lease the properties from 
FBO Land for a period of 5 years with a guaranteed rental return of 5% per annum (equivalent to 
RM103,333.33 per month, which will be paid in cash on a monthly basis, computed based on 5% of the 
Purchase Consideration).

  (ii) FBO Land (Setapak) Sdn. Bhd. had entered into a Stakeholder agreement with Top Land Resources 
Sdn. Bhd. and Leading ventures Sdn. Bhd. to appoint Messrs. Ching, Elaine & Co to take custody of 
114,461,538 Consideration Shares equivalent to RM7.44million, based on the RM0.065 Issue Price 
being aggregate of 25% of the Purchase Consideration (i.e. 5% guaranteed rental return for 5 years), 
as collateral to FBO Land for the guaranteed rental return by Top Land Resources Sdn. Bhd. and 5% of 
the Purchase Consideration (i.e. 5% guaranteed rental return for 1 year) as security deposit for the due 
performance of Top Land Resources Sdn. Bhd. of all the terms of the Lease Agreement.

 (i) On 8 August 2022, the Company increased its issued and paid up ordinary share capital from RM181,667,731 
to RM207,671,509 by way of issuance of 381,538,461 new ordinary shares of RM0.065 each pursuant to the 
acquisition of 92 commercial units comprising the ground and first floor within 46 stratified 2-storey shop/
offices within Bandar Tun Razak Business Park, 26400 Bandar Tun Abdul Razak Jengka, Maran, Pahang Darul 
Makmur, for a total purchase consideration of RM24,800,000.
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33. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  (cont’d)

 (j)  On 30 August 2022, Leading Ventures Sdn. Bhd. (“LV” or the Offeror”) had via direct business transactions 
acquired 369,120,100 ordinary shares in the Company, representing 18.96% of the total issued shares in the 
Company. Following the Shares Acquisition, LV’s shareholding the Company increased from 625,481,024 
ordinary shares (representing approximately 32.12% of the total issued shares) to 994,601,124 ordinary 
shares, representing approximately 51.07% of the total issued shares in the Company.

  Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP., the Executive Director of the Company is the sole director and sole 
shareholder of LV, and is thus deemed as the ultimate offeror for the Offer (“Ultimate Offeror”)

  Pursuant to Section 218(2) of the Capital Markets and Services Act, 2007 and Paragraph 4.01(a) of the 
Securities Commission Malaysia’s Rule on Take-overs, Mergers and Compulsory Acquisitions, LV is obligated to 
extend a mandatory take-over offer to acquire:

  (i)  all the remaining shares not already owned by the Ultimate Offeror, Offeror and persons acting in 
concert (“PAC”) with them, as well as such number of new Company’s shares that may be issued and 
allotted prior to the Closing Date arising from the exercise of the outstanding warrants 2022/2032 for a 
cash consideration of RM0.070 per Offer Share.

  (ii)  all the remaining Warrants which are not already owned by the Ultimate Offeror, Offeror and PACs for a 
cash consideration of RM0.005 per Offer Warrant.

34. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

 In previous financial period, the Group and the Company changed their financial year end from 31 December to 
30 June and made up their financial statements for the 18 months period from 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2021. 
Accordingly, comparative figures for the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity, 
statements of cash flows and the related notes are not entirely comparable with those for the current financial year.
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We, LEE CHEE KIANG and TAN CHIN HONG, being two of the directors of Meta Bright Group Berhad (formerly known 
as Eastland Equity Bhd.), do hereby state that in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements 
set out on pages 66 to 150 are drawn up in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2022 and of their financial performance 
and cash flows for the financial year then ended.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

LEE CHEE KIANG 
Director

TAN CHIN HONG
Director

Kuala Lumpur

Date: 13 October 2022

I, TAN CHIN HONG, being the director primarily responsible for the financial management of Meta Bright Group Berhad 
(formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.), do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 66 to 150 are correct, and I make this solemn declaration 
conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

TAN CHIN HONG

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 13 October 2022.

Before me,

HADINUR MOHD SYARIF (No. W761)
Commissioner for Oaths

STATUTORY DECLARATION
Pursuant to Section 251(1) of the Companies Act 2016

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
Pursuant to section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Meta Bright Group Berhad (formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.), 
which comprise the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2022 of the Group and of the Company, and the 
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of 
the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, as set out on pages 66 to 150.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and 
of the Company as at 30 June 2022, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the financial year then 
ended in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct 
and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) 
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA 
Code.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Group

Investment properties and property, plant and equipment (Notes 4(a), 4(b), 11 and 12 to the financial statements)

The Group has significant balances of investment properties and property, plant and equipment. The Group’s policy is to 
measure investment properties at fair value and property, plant and equipment (comprising freehold land and building) 
carried at valuation subsequent to their initial recognition. The Group estimated the fair value of the investment 
properties and valuation of property, plant and equipment based on information provided and the valuation performed by 
an external independent valuer. 

We focused on this area because the estimation of fair value of investment properties and valuation of property, plant 
and equipment requires significant judgement in key assumptions used.

Our response:

Our audit procedures included, among others:

• considering the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external valuers which includes consideration of 
their qualifications and experience;

• understanding the scope and objective of the valuation by reading the terms of engagement; 
• reading the valuation reports and discussing with external valuer on their valuation approach and the significant 

judgements made; and
• understanding the relevance of the key input data used by the external valuers.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of Meta Bright Group Berhad
(Formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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Key Audit Matters  (cont’d)

Inventories (Notes 4(c) and 16 to the financial statements)

We focused on this area because the review of carrying value of certain inventories at lower of cost and net realisable 
value by the Group are major source of estimation uncertainty.

Our response:

Our audit procedures included, among others:

• considering the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the external valuers which includes consideration of 
their qualifications and experience;

•  understanding the scope and objective of the valuation by reading the terms of engagement;
•  comparing the Group’s assumptions to externally derived data, if any, as well as discussing with external valuer on 

their assessment of the fair value of the leasehold land; and
•  discussing with directors on whether the inventories have been written down to their net realisable value.

Revenue and corresponding costs recognition for property development activities (Notes 4(d), 5, 16 and 19 to the 
financial statements)

The amount of revenue and corresponding costs of the Group’s property development activities is recognised over 
the period of contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. 
The progress towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation is determined by reference to proportion of 
construction costs incurred for works performed to date bear to the estimated total costs for each project (input method). 

We focused on this area because significant directors’ judgement is required, in particular with regards to determining the 
progress towards satisfaction of a performance obligation, the extent of the property development costs incurred, the 
estimated total property development revenue and costs, as well as the recoverability of the property development costs. The 
estimated total revenue and costs are affected by a variety of uncertainties that depend of the outcome of future events.

Our response: 

Our audit procedures included, among others:

• reading the terms and conditions of sample of agreements with customers;
• understanding the Group’s process in preparing project budget and the calculation of the progress towards 

complete satisfaction of performance obligation; and
• checking the mathematical computation of recognised revenue and corresponding costs for the projects during the 

financial year.

Company

We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report which arose from the audit of the 
financial statements of the Company. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our 
auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of Meta Bright Group Berhad

(Formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

(cont’d)



154 META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD 
(formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.) [200001013359 (515965-A)]

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The directors are also 
responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on 
Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s and the Company’s internal control. 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors. 

 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of Meta Bright Group Berhad
(Formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
(cont’d)
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  (cont’d)

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies 
Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the contents of 
this report. 

Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng PLT
201906000600 (LLP0019411-LCA) & AF 0117
Chartered Accountants

Dato’ Lock Peng Kuan
No. 02819/10/2022 J
Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur

Date: 13 October 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of Meta Bright Group Berhad

(Formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

(cont’d)
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Registered
Beneficial
Owner

Description and 
existing use Location Tenure

Land Area/
Floor Area

Age of
Building

(Year)

Net Book
Value 

RM

Date of
Acquisition/
Revaluation

Eastern 
Biscuit
Factory 
Sdn. Bhd.

Shopping Centre 
with basement 
carpark and a  
4 star Hotel

Kota Sri Mutiara
Jalan Sultan Yahya Petra
15150 Kota Bharu, 
Kelantan 

Freehold 8,068
square 
metres

24 137,593,700 30/6/2022

Eastern 
Biscuit
Factory 
Sdn. Bhd.

Completed 
condominium
12 units
Completed 
shoplots 20 units

Kota Sri Mutiara 
Jalan Sultan Yahya Petra 
15150 Kota Bharu, 
Kelantan 

Freehold 23,221 
square feet

24  4,078,536 30/6/2022

Eastern 
Biscuit
Factory 
Sdn. Bhd.

Ongoing 
development 
project

Mukim Kuala Lemal
Jajahan Pasir Mas
Kelantan

Leasehold
(Expiring on
22 July 2074)

48,201
square feet

N/A 9,848,363 27/04/2009

Eastern 
Biscuit
Factory 
Sdn. Bhd.

Land held 
for sales

Mukim Kuala Lemal
Jajahan Pasir Mas
Kelantan

Leasehold
(Expiring on
22 July 2074)

196,721
square feet

N/A  7,000,000 30/6/2022

Eastern 
Biscuit 
Factory 
Sdn. Bhd.

Completed shop 
houses 17 units 
2-storey 

Mukim Kuala Lemal
Jajahan Pasir Mas
Kelantan

Leasehold 
(Expiring on
22 July 2074)

27,980 
square feet

6  6,505,310 15/5/2016

FBO Land 
(Setapak) 
Sdn. Bhd.

Ongoing 
development 
project

Damai, Kota Kinabalu,
Sabah

Leasehold 
(Expiring on
31 December 
2081)

1,306 
square 
metres

N/A  34,739,290 23/9/2022

FBO Land 
(Setapak) 
Sdn. Bhd.

Completed shop/
offices 46 units 
2-storey

Mukim Chenor
Daerah Maran
Pahang

Leasehold 
(Expiring on
22 October 
2101)

99,505 
square feet

3  24,800,000 8/8/2022

PROPERTIES OWNED BY THE 
COMPANY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
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Issued and Paid-up Capital : 140,353,769 divided into 1,947,346,231 shares
Class of Shares : Ordinary shares 
Voting Rights : One vote per ordinary share
No. of Shareholders : 15,332

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2022

Size of Shareholdings
 No. of

Shareholders
 Percentage of

Shareholders
No. of

 Shares

 Percentage 
of Issued

Share Capital

1 to 99 shares  7,739  50.476%  322,838  0.017%

100 to 1,000 shares  4,324  28.202%  1,257,655  0.065%

1,001 to 10,000 shares  1,674  10.918%  7,757,569  0.398%

10,001 to 100,000 shares  1,152  7.514%  46,083,451  2.366%

100,001 to 97,367,311 shares  440 2.870% 897,287,153  46.077%

97,367,312 and above  3 0.020% 994,637,565  51.077%

TOTAL 15,332  100% 1,947,346,231  100%

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2022 (as per Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)

 No. of Shares  No. of Shares
Name of Directors  (Direct) %  (Indirect)  %

Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP.   - - 994,601,124* 51.075

Lee Chee Kiang  93,736,800 4.814  -  -

Tan Chin Hong -  -  18,333,928**  0.941

Phang Kiew Lim -  -  -  -

Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan Mohamad -  -  -  -

Masleena Binti Zaid -  -  -  -

Ong Lu Yuan 1,198,800  0.062  -  -

NOTES:

* Deemed interest by virtue of his interest in Leading Ventures Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 
2016

** Indirect interest by virtue of his directorship and shareholding in Prestige Pavilion Sdn. Bhd. and Danhwa Holding 
Sdn. Bhd. and deemed Interest by virtue of shares held by his sister, Ms Adeline Tan Wan Chen and his brother, Tan 
Chin Hao.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 30 September 2022
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2022 (as per Register of Substantial Shareholders)

 No. of Shares  No. of Shares
Name of Substantial Shareholders  (Direct) %  (Indirect)  %

Leading Ventures Sdn Bhd  994,601,124  51.075  -  -

Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP. - - 994,601,124* 51.075

NOTES:

* Deemed interest by virtue of his interest in Leading Ventures Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 
2016

THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

 Shareholdings
No. Name No. of Shares Percentage (%)

1 LEADING VENTURES SDN BHD 511,019,486  26.242

2 LEADING VENTURES SDN BHD  369,156,541  18.957

3 MALACCA EQUITY NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
LEADING VENTURES SDN. BHD.

114,461,538 5.878

4 LEE CHEE KIANG 93,736,800 4.814

5 LEONG MAY LING 77,100,000 3.959

6 CHEONG POH CHOY 74,971,946 3.850

7 WONG KOK KUN 69,223,718 3.555

8 LIM WEN YEH 63,407,548 3.256

9 NG KAOI YUN 51,239,500 2.631

10 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR RICKOH CORPORATION SDN. BHD.

33,428,571  1.717

11 MELVINYEO KIANDEE 31,970,714 1.642

12 CHEW KENG SIEW 24,811,428 1.274

13 CGS-CIMB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR PRESTIGE PAVILION SDN BHD 
(MY1661)

17,670,000 0.907

14 TEY CHEE THONG 15,785,714 0.811

15 CHONG OI LING 14,420,800  0.741

16 LIM WEN YEH 12,814,285  0.658

17 1CARTABAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR STANDARD CHARTERED BANK SINGAPORE BRANCH 
(BJSSHKBR-CL O L)

 11,024,000  0.566

18 POH SHIOW WOAN  10,792,821  0.554

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 30 September 2022
(cont’d)
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THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS  (cont’d)

 Shareholdings
No. Name No. of Shares Percentage (%)

19 CHONG CHEE VUI  9,680,000  0.497

20 LING HUNG TAH  9,614,800  0.494

21 NG VUI KEE @ VICKY NG  9,285,600  0.477

22 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CIMB FOR CHU SHENG TAUR (PB)

 9,119,533  0.468

23 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN SZE HONG (7001191)

 9,100,000  0.467

24 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CIMB FOR CHU JAN TOW (PB)

 8,734,813  0.449

25 UOB KAY HIAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD (A/C CLIENTS)

 8,559,799 0.440

26 CGS-CIMB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR YAP YOON SUN (MY3608)

 8,500,000  0.436

27 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR THONG MENG CHIL

 6,480,400  0.333

28 TING DIEW WEI  6,427,000  0.330

29 TANG CHEE KONG  4,400,000  0.226

30 CGS-CIMB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR HII JOON TECK (MQ0439)

 4,071,100  0.209

Total 1,691,008,455 86.837

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 30 September 2022

(cont’d)
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No. of Warrants B Issued : 782,901,982
No. of Warrants B Exercised : -
No. of Warrants B Unexercised  : 782,901,982
Issue date : 14 February 2022
Maturity date  : 13 February 2032
Rights of Warrants B Holder  : The Warrants do not confer on their holders any voting rights or any right to 

participate in any form of distribution and/or offer of further securities in the 
Company until and unless such holders of Warrants exercise their Warrants for 
the new Shares in accordance with the provisions of the Deed Poll and such 
new Shares have been allotted and issued to such holders.

DISTRIBUTION OF WARRANTS B HOLDINGS AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2022

Size of Warrants B Holdings

No. of 
Warrants B 

Holders

Percentage of 
Warrants B 

Holders
No. of 

Warrants

Percentage 
of Issued 
Warrants

Less than 100  55  12.731%  2,730  0.000%

100 to 1,000  22  5.093%  10,036  0.001%

1,001 to 10,000  64  14.815%  310,334  0.040%

10,001 to 100,000  146  33.796%  6,945,813  0.887%

100,001 to 39,145,099 (*)  139  32.176%  390,737,961 49.909%

39,145,100 and above (**)  6  1.389%  384,895,108  49.163%

TOTAL 432  100% 782,901,982 100%

DIRECTORS’ WARRANTS B HOLDINGS AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2022 (as per Register of Directors’ Warrants B Holdings)

 No. of Warrants B  No. of Warrants B
Name of Directors  (Direct) %  (Indirect)  %

Dato’ Lee Wai Mun, DIMP., JP - - 157,299,015* 20.092

Lee Chee Kiang  46,868,831 5.987  -  -

Masleena Binti Zaid  -  -  -   -

Mohamed Akwal Bin Sultan Mohamad  -  -  -  -

Ong Lu Yuan 620,442 0.079  -  -

Phang Kiew Lim  -  -  -  -

Tan Chin Hong  -  -  -  -

Notes:

* Deemed interest by virtue of his interest in Leading Ventures Sdn. Bhd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 
2016

ANALYSIS OF WARRANTS B HOLDINGS
As at 30 September 2022
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THIRTY LARGEST WARRANTS B HOLDERS

 Warrants Holdings
No. Name No. of Warrants B Percentage (%)

1 LEADING VENTURES SDN BHD  157,299,015  20.092

2 LEONG MAY LING  52,752,631  6.738

3 LEE CHEE KIANG  46,868,831  5.987

4 CHEONG POH CHOY  44,117,551 5.635

5 WAN CHEE KONG 42,113,644 5.379

6 LIEW YEN HUEI 41,743,436 5.332

7 LEE MEI ZHEN 38,322,384 4.895

8 SIM LI YIN  36,953,963 4.720

9 WONG KOK KUN  36,269,752 4.633

10 NG KAOI YUN 34,210,526  4.370

11 LIM WEN YEH  31,703,773  4.050

12 TAN MAI PENG  21,894,736  2.797

13 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR RICKOH CORPORATION SDN. BHD.

 16,714,285  2.135

14 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LUI YUEN QIU (7001122)

 16,530,300  2.111

15 MELVINYEO KIANDEE  15,985,356  2.042

16 EPSILON MANAGEMENT SDN BHD  13,458,647  1.719

17 CHEW KENG SIEW  12,405,713  1.585

18 TA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR EPSILON MANAGEMENT SDN BHD

 10,984,285  1.403

19 ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR CHEOK LEE HAR (7001135)

 10,400,000  1.328

20 UOB KAY HIAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD (A/C CLIENTS)

8,600,000 1.098

21 TEY CHEE THONG  6,472,856  0.827

22 LIM WEN YEH  6,407,142  0.818

23 LING HUNG TAH  4,807,400  0.614

24 CHONG OI LING  4,613,494  0.589

25 CHONG CHEE VUI  4,485,000 0.573

26 TING DIEW WEI  4,389,252  0.561

27 POH SHIOW WOAN 3,909,784 0.499

28 LUI YUEN QIU 2,424,600 0.310

29 CHEOK LEE HAR 2,185,000 0.279

30 ONG CHEE SIONG 2,000,000 0.255

Total 731,023,356 93.374

ANALYSIS OF WARRANTS B HOLDINGS
As at 30 September 2022

(cont’d)
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META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD
(Formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.)

(Registration No. 200001013359 (515965-A))
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

PROXY FORM
(Before completing the form 
please refer to the notes below)

I/We  NRIC/Passport/Co. No. 
 (FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)

of 
(ADDRESS)

Email Address  Tel No. 

being a member of META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD (Formerly	known	as	Eastland	Equity	Bhd.), hereby appoint: 

Proxy 1 - Full Name in Block Letters NRIC/Passport No. No. of shares % of shareholdings

Address: 

Email :

Proxy 2 - Full Name in Block Letters NRIC/Passport No. No. of shares % of shareholdings

Address: 

Email :

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy(ies) to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 
Twenty-Second (“22nd”) Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company, to be held at Merbok Room, Level 6, The 
Grand Renai Hotel, Kota Sri Mutiara, Jalan Sultan Yahya Petra, 15150 Kota Bharu, Kelantan, Malaysia on Thursday, 24 
November 2022 at 10.00 a.m. or any adjournment thereof.

My/our proxy(ies) shall vote as follows:

No. Resolutions For Against
Ordinary Resolutions

1. To re-elect Mr Phang Kiew Lim as Director 
2. To re-elect Puan Masleena Binti Zaid as Director 
3. To approve the Directors’ Fees and Benefits Payable to the Directors of an amount up to 

RM500,000 for the period from the date of the 22nd AGM until the date of the next AGM, 
to be paid monthly in arrears

4. To re-appoint Messrs Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng PLT as Auditors of the Company and to 
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration

5. To authorise the Directors to allot and issue shares
6. To approve proposed renewal of Shareholders’ mandate for recurrent related party 

transactions of a revenue or trading nature

[Please indicate with an "X" in the spaces provided whether you wish your votes to be cast for or against the resolutions. 
In the absence of specific directions, your proxy will vote or abstain as he/she thinks fit.]

Dated this  day of  2022

 Signature of Shareholder or Common Seal

No. of shares held
CDS Account No. of
Authorised Nominee



Notes:

1. A member (other than an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991) entitled to 
attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a maximum of two (2) proxies to attend, participate, speak and vote on his/her behalf. A 
proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. A proxy appointed to 
attend, participate, speak and vote shall have the same rights as the members to speak at the meeting. 

2. Where a member appoints two (2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her holdings to be 
represented by each proxy.

3. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee who holds shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in 
one securities account (“omnibus account”) as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, there is no limit to the 
number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4. The Proxy Form shall be signed by the appointer or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the member is a corporation, must be 
executed under its common seal or by its duly authorised attorney or officer. 

5. The original instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a certified copy 
of such power or authority, shall be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Share Registrars Sdn. Bhd. at 
Ground Floor or 11th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, 
Malaysia not less than forty eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or at any adjournment thereof, and in default 
the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.

META BRIGHT GROUP BERHAD
(Formerly known as Eastland Equity Bhd.)
(Registration No. 200001013359 (515965-A))

c/o BOARDROOM SHARE REGISTRARS SDN. BHD.
GROUND & 11TH FLOOR, MENARA SYMPHONY
NO. 5, JALAN PROF. KHOO KAY KIM
SEKSYEN 13
46200 PETALING JAYA
SELANGOR DARUL EHSAN
MALAYSIA

AFFIX POSTAGE
STAMP HERE

6. For the purpose of determining who shall be entitled to attend this meeting, the Company shall be requesting Bursa Malaysia Depository 
Sdn. Bhd. To make available a Record of Depositor as at 18 November 2022 and only Members whose names appear on such Record of 
Depositors shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at this meeting and entitled to appoint proxy or proxies.

7. All the resolutions set out in the Notice of the AGM will be put to vote by way of poll pursuant to Clause 78 of the Company’s Constitution.

Personal Data Privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in 
the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 26 October 2022.

Fold This Flap For Sealing

Then Fold Here

1st Fold Here
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V06-07-03A, Signature 2,
Lingkaran SV, Sunway Velocity,
55100 Kuala Lumpur.

Tel : +603 9201 2893
Fax : +603 9201 3982

www.mbgb.my
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